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Business review
The principal activity of the Group is the design, build, commission and maintenance of the Thames
Tideway Tunnel (TTT). BTL began operating as an independent regulated water company in August
2015 when Ofwat awarded it a licence to carry out those appointed activities. The emphasis given to
BTL, which trades under the name 'Tideway', throughout this report reflects its importance to the overall
performance of the Group.

The TTT will be a 25km tunnel beneath London, which has been dubbed the 'super sewer', will store
and transfer tens of millions of tonnes of untreated sewage each year, which currently pollutes the tidal
River Thames.

Our Shareholder group has extensive experience of investing in and managing a wide range of
infrastructure assets in the UK and overseas. Since Licence Award, our Shareholders have invested
£1.3bn. Over half the total equity invested is by UK investors, including a large number of UK pensioners
through investment by major pension funds, giving UK pensioners an investment in Tideway.

The shareholder group comprises:

■Allianz

■ Dalmore Capital Limited

■ INPP & Swiss life 
(managed and advised
by Amber Infrastructure}

DIF

Thames Tideway Tunnel scheme

London's sewer network was built by Sir Joseph Bazalgette in the 1860s, to cope with up to four million
people. The system now struggles to serve a city of more than eight million. This population increase
means that the network is regularly overwhelmed, resulting in discharges into the Thames via combined
sewer overflows (CSOs), which were designed to release excess sewage flows during heavy storms.
These discharges have increased from one or two a year in Victorian times to an average of one a week
more recently. This results in tens of millions of cubic metres of sewage entering the tidal section of the
Thames each year.

The total estimated cost of the tunnel is £4.2bn, in 2014/15 prices. Ofwat has set a regulatory baseline
of £3.1 bn (in 2014/15 prices, with the total of £3.5bn in outturn prices) for Tideway's element of the
programme, with the rest delivered by Thames Water. The real impact on Thames Water customers'
annual bills for the entire project is estimated to be around £20-25 per household by the mid-2020s (in
2014/15 prices), considerably lower than the £70-80 per household originally estimated. The tunnel's
design will make it self-cleaning and will minimise ongoing operational and maintenance requirements
during its expected life of at least 120 years.
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Regulatory oversight

Tideway is an independent regulated water company, with a new delivery model designed to attract
private sector capital to finance infrastructure and deliver value for money to customers. This enables
us to finance our functions, earn a reasonable return on our investors' capital and maintain an
investment grade credit rating. Our bespoke regulatory framework provides a revenue stream in both
the construction and operational periods. Revenues are billed and collected on our behalf by Thames
Water from its wastewater customers and passed to Tideway.

For the period until 2030, revenues are calculated according to the framework set out in our Licence,
which is primarily based on a percentage return (2.497 per cent) on the regulatory value of our company
(the Regulatory Capital Value or RCV). From 2030, we expect to be regulated in line with the rest of the
water industry, with price control reviews every five years.

Our delivery partners

Our delivery partners include our Programme Manager (PM), consortia known as the Main Works
Contractors (MWCs) for the works in the West, Central and East areas (see table below) and our system
integrator, Amey OWR.

Rola

West Contract

Contractors

BMB JV:Bam •fottall Ltd
Morgan Si!f11dal Pic
BallfuUJ" Beatty Group Ud 

Central Comrad: FLO .IV: IFe.-rovîial Agroman UK Ltd
laing O"Ro11J1rilœ Consllruciion Ltd 

East Contract CVB JV: Costañn Ud 
Vinci Constru-Clf:ion Grands Proiects
Bach)'' Soletanehe Udi 

System 

Jacobs tfo•rmerly CH2:M)

We have also created an overarching Alliance, governed by an Alliance Agreement between us,
Thames Water, the MWCs and the System Integrator. This agreement incentivises collaborative
behaviour around the construction programme's aims and outcomes, including the key milestones and
the objective of meeting overall cost, driving everyone to manage costs and risks in an integrated way.

The route

The tunnel will run from the Acton Storm Tanks in West London to the Lee Tunnel at Abbey Mills in
East London, with most of the tunnel being under the River Thames. The flow from over 30 CSOs will
be diverted from the existing sewerage network into the main tunnel, where it will continue to flow by
gravity to the existing Lee Tunnel. From there it will run to the Tideway Pumping Station, to be pumped
to Beckton sewage treatment works.

The main tunnel construction will use TBMs in four drives from three main sites, with two additional
connection tunnel-drive sites. The main drive sites are in Fulham in the West, Battersea in the Central
section and Bermondsey in the East. Additional works will intercept the CSOs and connect them to the
main tunnel.
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25
kilometres long

7.2 66 
metres wide metres deep

Travelling fromwest to east
London, the main tunnel war 

be 25km loog. Two coonection
tunnels wiD be 4.6km and

1.1km long.

The mm umel wil have an internal
diameter of 6.5 metres between 
Acton Sloon Tanks and Ca-mvath 
Road Riverside . h will have a 72 

metre internal diameter at Abbey Mílls 
Pt.npsig Station. The Greenwich

oonneciion turne! will have a 5 metre
internal dianeter and Frogmore

connection turne! wìl be 2.6 metres. 

The tunnel needs to fai one metre 
every 790 me'lres so it can be

self-cleaning. Starting from
30 metres deep at Acton Storm

Tanks. ìt wì~ finish 66 metres deep 
at Abbey Mills Ptmping Station.

ACTON STORM TANKS
CARNWATM RORO

RIVERSIOE KIRTLING STREET CMAMBERS WMARF
ABBEY MILLS

PUMPING STATION-

WEST CENTRAL EAST 

Who We Are and What We Do
Thames tideway Tunnel 

The twnel generally tolowsthe River' Thames from Acl an
to lJnehouse. thenoonmues north-eastto Abbey Mils 
Pwnpwig Sta.ban where it Ml .::omect to the l..se Tt.nlel

)~ ~-=­º •--- ... ·---- . )- - .. - - ..----cl --4!.:.:=:-- 
.... - -·-- •--..­ --- ----- .. ----- 
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The timeline

Following Licence Award and the award of the Main Works Contracts, we agreed a baseline schedule
with our MWCs that met the licence date, which we call the Current Regulatory Baseline.

The key stages in the schedule include:

• Mobilisation of the MWCs. This initially started off site, with mobilisation of resource, the start
of detailed design work, consenting applications and procurement of subcontractors and
materials. The mobilisation then moved on site as these activities progressed, construction
sequencing was finalised and any applicable enabling Thames Water Works were completed.

• Construction. This includes tasks such as excavating deep shafts for the three drive sites and
each of the CSO interception shafts, tunnelling, tunnel secondary lining, installing mechanical
and electronical equipment, and architectural and landscaping works.

• Commissioning. This will be done in two stages and includes worksite testing for each
worksite and the connection of all the worksites and tunnels to one system - the London
Tideway Tunnel (LTT) system. Once this is complete, Handover occurs, with the Thames
Tideway Tunnel (TTT) Works handed from the MWCs to Tideway. At this stage, the MWCs'
activities are complete and the contractors are demobilised.

• System Acceptance period. This is an 18 to 36 month proving period, in which the LTT will be
operated across a variety of storms and conditions, to demonstrate it fulfils the project
requirements. Once this is complete, Thames Water takes over the responsibility to maintain
for the near-ground structures and assets. Tideway will retain responsibility for the shafts and
tunnel structures and ensure the TTT is available to allow flow to pass through into the Lee
Tunnel. This involves inspecting the deep tunnels and shafts, which we expect to do on a ten­
yearly cycle, and performing any maintenance required.

Current Regulatory Baseline:
Regulator, baseline tirneine(FY) 

2015'16 2016117 2m1na 2011V19 201 9/'20 202!1121 2021m. 2022/23 2023/24 200"'25 21125126 'l!¥HilZJ 

1.ieence Award > 
M~biisatïon• 

,_, 
Ccnsbuc:lion" 

Shafts 
IMaintumels
Tlßlel secondary lillflQ

Commissioning 
Handover
SystemAccepf.ance period ....J
Acceptance •*This phase shows Mobilisation activities from Licence Award to the start of Construction at the three main drive sites.

Additional Mobilisation activities continue throughout construction (i.e. consents, procurement).
**The gap between shafts and commissioning reflects the need to complete additional construction activities after shafts are
complete, prior to the start of commissioning (i.e. air management systems, structures, landscaping).

Business Model

Delivering for our stakeholders - our legacy for London

ln addition to the benefits the tunnel will bring, we are committed to maximising the long-term benefits
we create for all our stakeholders and to delivering a positive and lasting legacy for London.

Over the coming years, we aim to transform the way in which things are done in the industry. Starting
with health, safety and wellbeing, we are treating people differently from the very beginning, seeking
much higher levels of engagement and commitment to doing things better and safer. We want to see a
step change in the health and wellbeing of everyone working on the project, with people leaving
healthier than when they started.

Our key enablers and the value we create for stakeholders are set out in the table below.
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Enablers

Safe Operations/Delivery
We strive to create and mamtam a culture of safely or not at all

See Health, Safety and We being section 

Effective Govemance/Overslght/GSP•
Our risk management systems and po~cy provide a clear and
consistent framework for managing and reporting risks. The Board 
regularly reviews how we !Identify, evaluate and manage rrsks.

See Risk Managemerrt section

Talented and Passionate People
We work to attract. motiva e, develop and retam the best talent
- our performance and abt ty to thn~·e depends on

See Company & People section

Experienced and Competitive Supply Chain (PM & MWCs)
We have experienced and comcebtive suppfy chain with the
night uncentnres ,n place and strong infonnallon rnks across each
of our three contract areas, so we can Sihar-e lessons learned. 

Collaborative Thames Water Relationship
·we ,,.,o,rk dœely and co-locate with Thames Waier ita ensure
that we have a co laborative relatronship. 

See Schedule, Cost and Ouaity section 

stakeholder Focus
We aim to build endunn,g reWionshl ps ,.,.-iti, government local
authorities . loe commenities, partners, suppliiers and others
•1re impact on this pro¡ect.

See Yision, Legacy and Reputation section

Efficient Financing
We aim to finanoe this pro,ect as efficiently as passable. to ensure
that we can minimise ou.- impact on bi!I payers in the future, 

See Financing section

Stakeholder Value

London
• Reconnecting London wrth the River Thames

• Ensuring that we leave a positive and lasting
legacy for London

• Developing the nver economy

Our people
• A unique and 111nova1lve proœct wtth

a focus on learning and development

• A safe and inclusive workplace

• A competitive and faur compensation
package that mcentivises defivery
arid rewards success

Environment
• A positnre impact on the tidal River Thames.

thmug, the development of the tunnel 

• Ensuring, ~vhere we can. that '"''e reduoe
our en,..;ronmental impact 

Communlties
• Pro\'KIÌ111g a river that locals deserve
and canuse 

• Enhanced local landscapes for­
reclaimed d and pobl'ic art 

Bill Payers
• !l.'1inirms1ng the impact on

Thames Wafel' wastewater customers

Investors
• An appropri.ate return on thear investment

Industry/ Supply chain 
• Pro111dÍll'lg opportunities for companies

and for workers to develop skills and
gam experience

• Industry leadi:ng mrnwations that 
are shared via i3P
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Stakeholder engagement

To be regarded as truly successful, we believe the Thames Tideway Tunnel must leave a wider legacy
than just a cleaner, healthier Thames. Part of this legacy will be judged by the project's overall reputation
once it is delivered.

We want to reconnect London with its river and engage with stakeholders at all levels, including elected
representatives, opinion formers, interest groups and local communities, to help achieve this. We use
the quarterly TTT Forum to bring together representatives of the directly affected boroughs and other
statutory consultees.

ln particular, we engage fully with local communities by proactively informing them about the project
through targeted communications to residents and site-specific online information, while dealing with
their issues on a one-to-one basis via locally-based teams and a 24-hour helpdesk.

We have independently-chaired community liaison working groups (CLWGs) at some of our live sites
and community information centres at our main drive sites.
Category 

Key Governme nt and regulatory
stakeholders 

Stakeholder

Communities directly impacted
by construction

Independent roles and assurance

Independ ent Teduúcal Assessor J"Qj:
The rnl nMOWTodew:Jy ond ThamesW:,t.,. 
""""1inll lo lhe liaison Comrmlee. 

Independent a....m., ofT,doway ~ 
~ which isa gnx,p sei..., lo°"""""" 
-'"l)Or1ing.Heabo<MlfSl!eS 
ho ICP and ICC.' 

..depe,Mlel1t Olairmanb-TTT F-orum'. 

Adœtionally , there ano a v:inetyol ndepo,>denl 
seniœs""3iablelosupport­ 
wlich "1Cble:
Independent Ad,ñs«y Se,vice(IA$):
The IAS offers independent help and ,upport 
losbkeholderslivingand~doseto 
CU' consbucbonsites. 

hldope,idait Compensation Panel OCPI: 
ThelCPCNSseosanddetermnesdaims
maje und« any of the non-sta!utoly
compensation policies. 

Independent Complaints CommissionerOCC):
The rec assists -who..., no1 salisfied 
witñ the ICP's responsereganf,ng a daim.
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Our Vision, Values, and Strategy
Our vision

Our vision is to reconnect London
with the Hiver Thames.

■ Vis10n 

■Aim
■ Companv Ob¡QCliVQS

Tideway's business is to design, build, commission and maintain the TTT, to leave our capital city's
river cleaner than it has probably been for over a hundred years. This alone could be a sufficient
ambition for Tideway, but we believe that seeing the TTT simply as an engineering endeavour would
be a huge lost opportunity. Our focus is not just what we are doing, but how we are doing it and the
broader benefits we can deliver to the range of stakeholders we affect.

The increase in sewage pollution over many decades caused London to turn its back to the river,
breaking the once vital link between London and the Thames. We aim to re-establish that connection.
Furthermore, in a city where roads are getting busier every year, wherever possible we are using the
river to transport our materials, with the aim of revitalising the river economy and reducing road
congestion, making the roads safer.

Equally, when the Thames Tideway Tunnel is commissioned, and the river's health is restored,
Londoners will be able to reconsider the river's leisure value. That could mean more water sports,
pursuits on the foreshore, fishing or simply the enjoyment of being near a clean and healthy
watercourse.

Our values

Our values:

• Safety: Transform the health, safety and wellbeing of all;
• Legacy: Create a healthier future for London;
• Collaboration: Working together as an effective team;
• Respect: For people, places and resources; and
• Innovation: Striving for excellence in project delivery.

10 
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We understand the significance of what we are doing and are proud of its importance for London's
future health and prosperity. We are also very clear that we will not achieve it at any cost. First and
foremost is the safety of those employed through us and of the public we work amongst. We intend to
do things safely or not at all.

We recognise that we will be a distraction for our neighbours and those with whom we come in contact.
We want to develop our relationships with our stakeholders, as we recognise that we will be more
effective and efficient when we treat everyone with respect, empathy and integrity- treating people as
we would like to be treated.

We know we need to be clear in our intentions and communications and must respect our environment.
We are inspired by what we are doing, and we hope to inspire others by what we do, how we do it and
the potential for London that we will unlock.

Our strategy

Throughout the year, we ensured that our targets and aspirations encouraged and allowed us to deliver
best performance for all our key stakeholders. To develop our targets and aspirations we assessed our
performance against our key performance indicators and stakeholder requirements. Additionally, we
assessed the current external environment and future industry trends, which allowed us to identify areas
of best practice and areas for improvement.

The Executive Team and the Board discussed the insights from this exercise. We used the lessons
learned to develop our ambitions and targets and to provide best value and resilience to our
shareholders and stakeholders. To ensure that awareness of, and commitment to, these aspirations
spreads throughout Tideway, we use the most important performance indicators in allocating company
bonuses for all staff and personal bonus measures for the executive directors. We report the
performance against these indicators publicly.

Through this process, we found that we had made significant progress against most of our key
performance indicators and priorities, with some areas requiring further work in the coming year. The
external environment had also changed quite significantly, particularly in the political and supply chain
space, and the understanding of this helped shape our future priorities. Lastly, we reviewed a variety of
schedule milestones based on an internal review and assessment of the external environment across
a range of areas including designs, consents, mobilisation of sites and marine activity.

The outcomes of this review resulted in refinements to our long-term objectives and activities. The
notable changes were as follows:

• For Health, Safety, and Wellbeing, we added 'Drive for an equivalent high level of HSW
performance in the marine environment'. This was included as marine works will be a lasting
legacy for Tideway and require prioritisation as we are developing it from the ground up;

• For Company and People, we added 'reinforcing Tideway's values and behaviours' to
emphasise its importance as we enter a stable phase of the project and focus on
empowerment to improve efficiency and effectiveness; and

• Schedule, Cost and Quality: We adjusted the objective to reflect our focus on 'delivering the
Thames Tideway Tunnel safely at the right quality and to best value'.

Our strategy is set out in detail on the following pages.
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2018/19 Strategy

@ Health, Safety and Welbeing 

Obj,ective and Outcome!
1,•,~ are lal¡Jeting zerofatali1ies or serious injuies, of
or-on-<Site. We aclüe~-e this h'I' setting new stBndarda
fur- ea;lth, saieíy and wa11being. lhia is Ulerighnh·ng to 
do íoc those • '•'Cllved. as well aSl impro\lÏng ¡yod' uciwîty • 
and reducing 1hechBillœ or dale.ya ar smppegea. 

Key long Term Activities;

• An HS','il programme which is recognised es
transfurmationa! in comp111ris.on ro prewous projecm

• Cllellilrering HSW Ehe 'RighlWll'¡", - line 'lllith the
ci~pn,g,amme, 11erified ht¡ appro¡xiade as.s.urance

• Maintaining a lfoc1151 on heal and wellbaing,
lo 81!:hiie!.l'e rele.tmreparitywiilh safety

• Dl'Mllg for an••••alani: ïgh ISlfel of HSW 
peñomnmce in llha marine erv.iiranmant

Priorities for 2!018119 :

• l'Cai1111ft111.,e 1-BS'N ¡perfurmanOB œn the oonstrulctian pha;se, 
äida sh!Nls oominuediimprou-ementin compeñsoo
m previous proJeds

Relevant Principal R&ks:

• Hee! . safielty end welllbeäng 
• High îllllfflSiCt low probabîliìly a•enfts 

@ Schedule, Cosi and Ouality

Objecme and Outcome:
'I,~ want to -deli•,,ar the Thames Tïdewa:,< Tur nel safel~•
at the right q uafct>,' and to best value. Finiming -earlier
,,muid red~ce cos benefiting b· I pa~•ers and in~•a;stora,
deliva:en•,ironmec:ts bar.iafits mor-eq uic ly and reduce
ciîsruption to lccaf res.idlants.

Key Long Tenn Activities:

• Enabling all our dalh•Erl partners to safe~,. delr,•er
the project mafe efficient~,' and 3t lC1n,ar cost and

u smg 'lhe AJl:ance io best affacl

• Maintaîl'!ling our foc•.11s on delivering a high-qUl!llity.
fit 6of' purpose asSl!!t and its integration into the INÑ!er
sewa: ne,iwc,rk 

Priori1ies for 201a/19: 

• '•'rork •n•· ffi,,a Programme Mar: ager ro delÍWlr
the best 'llaf ue líllrmoo£!'¡' acheduile possible

• 1,'oltJrk w· 11",e Programme Manager to ensure the MWCs"
maiœ opeationa are ñn line 'A'Ïth our rec¡-uireml!flts

• Ensr..ra that the esset beùng delívered is of the rïgl':,t qlilalífy

• De-.-efop ourrelationshii¡l with îllll'ULas in1e<ltaœs
E!'<l'C! tue at all Je,,•el:s. 11D suppcrt effic:îemdeli•,-er¡,·

Relevant Princì Ais.ks:

• Programme deli1uer,1

• Supply ohaim failr.11ra

• High ìl!npSICt.. kJw probabifi:ty EN~tli 

• tnterfaœs ,..ith Thl1il'l1ei Waœr iMraatructure

• Fktgule.1:ion

• eireJÜt 
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Vision, Legacy 
and Reputation 

Objectiw and Outcome:
We lfi'Eillt to C11Bate a. suppor1ive
en\lironmen for clslwerin,g tite runnel
and IJ,uili::I a pœiwerepu1Btillill wi
om- st3kehold'en. Looking after our
neigilbounl and stekehoklera raduce5
the scope foT delays.. so we can
dE!li~'& the tunnel's bana fim as
soon es¡possiblla

Key Long Tenn Activities!

• EinBUring cœrtinued good relations
i. s1ailœholdl!f'S, incluclin¡g

1:be consent g,amingbodies 

• AddreG.sil'l!]J the needs aneti 
CCillCemJ. af our n,eighbours

• □eli•¡iBfingm sil af ou:Œegacy phms

• ProtscJtiûlg and promoting
T~"s putalion

Priorities fer 201&119:

• Refiineour sf!eA.ahcllder andl
~engBQl!C!lltiBnt programme
iin a strudumd and targededl •nay,
1D 'iillppart aflfibient deßi1,9ry

Relevant Pmcipel Riska: 

• Hligjh iimpect. low ¡probahilírtty e1,'8nil:s 

Company 
and People 

Ob¡ectiY0 and Outcome:
A htgh-perfurming, moli-..atoo
aoo er: !Jl!Qed 11,orkforce wi I de i1,w 
bata ~alue ar ci MIIIJ us ClflJÎt
erd retai people.. 

Key Long Term Activities:

• lmP'lemenfulg our di\1ars.ir1
programma

• Pro-.•idin,g tramin¡¡ an,d dB'~elopment..
ar,d succession planning

• Offerïr.>g competiti-,·e tsrm,s and
condi1ïillf",s,, benafits and incerni1,'BS 

• Del[11airr,g systems. prooasses 
ami roots to su¡pport a.o il acti•.,s
arJJ3ni'sation 

• Riainforom,;¡ íocleß'a~·•s .alues
ami beha•,iours 

Priorities for 2018119:

• Ei.oh,ie the capabilitieGof the
cwganêsation io supparl Elll'lli
encc,ura,ge effiicient ,lfeli·¡lg(}• through
a mciti•,'3tl!dand errrpowa:edtiaam

Relevant Principal Risks:

• High irnpaci, low ¡rc,babiliiy e-..ar.:ts 
• Riapu1atia,n

© Financing 

Objective and Outcome:
\tie aim ro deli•,w efficient financing 
and línanci risk man.agemeni,.
'ft'hieih minimises our costof capiìtal
and s ports our Î111restmenl gracia 
crredm rating.

Key Long Term Acti-vities:

• Mai sining a bN-l"isk1iinancing
posiition by p~ g our Baa1/ 
BSS.+ credtl rafing:s 

• ~imai ing a~riana lev-als 
of liq¡uidi1y

• Opdiímisïn91 oor cost ot finSifllle, 11D
increase our return ilD slha,eholdera

• Con;tiinu:ìngi 1o !build irust Bll!d
ccclUfiidoanoe,.,..iOJ ou~ sllBlloaholdetrs
ilhroogh lhigh>-'Q,11 tlJ' repooiïng.
engs¡;pamanttand BSSUJraflltle

Priorities for 2018119: 

• Supportthe lllllJ!lnisa!lion 11D
dslfrwar the beGt resultb bill1
pB.'Jl!IIS lillld sharehald~ 

• i:lldiart!3ke oppoo!lllniis'llic funding
ïa:s an,ceacross rormm 

• Con!limUle fucus on ca¡pitaJ 
Dflä!Sl!3flllllil:i" Œ1 :and iquiidiily 
and seek 1o llt]ltiimise rel!Ums

Relevant Pñnc:ipal Ri s:

• Progrmmme del!ilrer¡r

• igh im¡pad,llo•¡w probability EM3l1lll

• fiinB:mciing

• jfa-fioo

• Regul!ation

•Breooil 
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Risk Management

Our risk appetite
To manage the risks we face, we need to define our risk appetite, which is the level of residual risk that we
are ready to take. Although this appetite recognises the agreements that underpin our delivery model, such
as our Licence and the GSP, our Board can further refine the residual risk through the strategies it sets.
While setting these strategies, a focus on operational, financial, and corporate resilience across Tideway's
activities has been crucial, as it helps to ensure that we take a long-term view on risk.

Tideway's risk policy is to 'target an overall Company risk profile consistent with a regulated UK water
utility'. This reflects our Board's risk appetite, which is low. The Board's appetite for risk has been at the
core of the main strategic decisions that it has taken to date, such as:

• Setting new standards for health, safety and wellbeing by developing programmes such as
RightWay, to support our target of zero fatalities or serious injuries, off-site or on-site.

• Requiring industry leading operational standards on the river, through our compliance with the
code of practice and validation of worker skills via new training approaches, such as the vessel
simulation training facility.

• Mitigating liquidity risk and interest rate risk, by raising significant amounts of long-term debt well
in advance of needing the financing.

Finally, in our financing strategy we have set a target to maintain a robust investment grade credit rating at
all times, which provides a tangible external benchmark of the Board's appetite for risk.

Our risk management framework
BOARO 

Ultimately responsícJe for
e!foctr\"'ooss of risk managemem · 

and inrernal control systesn . .......................... . . . . . 
BOARD RISK 
COMMITTEE 

EXECUTIVE RISK 
COMIIITIEE 

Prtya111.eflsks 

..... .. .. . .. 
••-!. . . .. . .. 

EXECUTIVE LEAD ERSHIP TEAM
Accountable for the design and

implementation of the risk management 
processes and the consistent application 

of risk management systems and 
management of corporate risks 

................................. . .. . .., .., 
CORPORATE PROGRAMME 

RISKS RISKS 
Rìsl<swhch R.osks whic:h 
are managed are managed 
byTtdeway bytheMW Cs

and/o, Tideway 
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Our ability to deliver the positive outcomes we want to achieve for all of our stakeholders depends on our
ability to manage risk.

Risk management is embedded in our culture and is central to achieving our objectives and priorities. We
have developed and implemented a framework which gives us a clearly defined process for identifying,
analysing and controlling both corporate and project delivery risks throughout the business. Our approach
includes actively monitoring risks, which are maintained on a comprehensive risk management database.
This database, called Active Risk Manager, includes quantifications of project risks in terms of potential
cost and schedule impact, and allows us to monitor the effectiveness of our mitigating actions.

The Compliance and Assurance Review Group (CARG) is a CEO-led group focused on reviewing the
Group's activities, both as the client or through the PM and MWCs. lt applies the three lines of defence
model, to review the appropriateness and compliance with our controls and assurance activities.

The Board Risk Committee reviews our principal risks and risk management processes and reports its
findings to the Board. The Executive Risk Committee considers on a rolling basis the programme risks
across the West, Central and East areas. During the year, we separated out the review of corporate risks
from programme risks, to strengthen the approach to both risk groups.

Throughout this risk management process, we actively review and manage new and emerging risks. ln the
year, we continued to review our exposure to cyber risk, due to its rising prevalence. This resulted in
strengthened internal systems and the refinement of current processes. Due to these mitigations and the
residual impact should an attack occur, we continue to believe this is not a principal risk for Tideway.

Principal risks

Set out below are our principal risks, which are those that could have a material adverse impact on our
business, reputation or financial condition. Each principal risk is owned and managed by a named member
of the senior management team.

The past year has yet again seen considerable progress across the project, which is continuing to have a
positive impact on our principal risks. The Operational Performance Review and Finance Review sections
set out the specific progress we have made in the year, particularly with respect to our continued focus on
health, safety and wellbeing and construction.

The main changes in the year have been:

• a reduction in our reputation risk, to reflect our strengthened relationship with key stakeholders;
• an increase in Thames Water Performance risk, reflecting asset and performance issues whilst

acknowledging a co-operative approach; and
• the addition of political risk to the existing regulatory risk. This is to reflect the increased political

scrutiny of the water sector and other regulated industries.

lt has been another successful year for our financing, as we secured a significant amount of our long term
external debt requirements which improved certainty over our financing costs and provides liquidity to
System Acceptance. Because of our financing activities, we have been able to remove interest rate risk
from financing risks.

Further detail on changes in the year are included within the principal risk table on the next page..
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PRINClPA.l AJSK TABLE
Se! out in the table :1re ori pnncipal
ns.ks. whoc;.h are ose that could
tave a materai ,31J·,•erc...e impact on
our business. œpul:aAron or financial
oorw:tí:oon_ Each princtpal rus is <W1'11ed

a.nd managed by a named member
of 'the se111ior managament team. 

e
-B a. ,: a
fl

J w

alth, Safety
and ing 

The heal , safety and 111ellbeing
of our employees and the public
is paramount. There ,s a mk thai: 
incidents oo~Id cause rm 1o
iird'il,idual.s and det-3)' progeas.. 
2018/19 sees mol:Jilis.ation of um
maril!IIB capabiliitr. which bllil1!JS
With ri associa.100 al.th. safety
and 'n8llloeun9 t'IÍS.k:s.

2 Prog amme
D livery

v1re are deJi1,19rmg a capital
1JWBstmemt ¡wogramme ol
£3.5bn ¡'£3.1blll in 2014115 poces),
V · ile here is experience of
deli1,'BrnnQ ai · er projects 1n
London, it is possible 8( the
oo..-,s.1J1U1Ction coukl !alœ lbnger
than planned :=ndi'bt- cost more.

A safety faillure ooutld cause ur:jur;i,
affect heallh arnd 'li'Bllbe<ing or IE<Eld
to loss of life. A scn!Jle lilBfiioœ e.em 
cw mu itiple e~,ants cou aliw lea,d
tn deftays cw sroppagea that cou:ld
pre,1etr11 us nneeting our- time aoo 
COSQ tBlgets.

A dlal~• . dEHÍIIJ'€f"ing fue iunnal would
de1131.; Lcm1l4:m,ara' benefïts lrnm 1he
project end cc d attract egulaìcr¡
snroroamern. Cœt increases abo1,10 
ffi1IB regllll13l!Dry ba.selWlla woul!d
ir-Jt:ree9!l cindrges 1D thosecusmmera
rooewimig ,yhoiesal'e BBl'VtCBB frem
Thamas WBl:ar, inc:rae.:se nancing
reqllltiret!IIIBntsami redŒe ratums 
fuir our !iharah[llJcl!ni.

e

I • 2

1¡'¡',a ara imn¡pllamenuïng our Rli¡fttt'1!i!BtJ' 
progiramme. 'lï'hicii 1a aligned to 1be
cleliruerJ piro,gramrnie. lt nm;lludeG the
Aiigjht!St3rt a¡p,µrnach ro esitatilishung
the 'ijf.!!l:!J' beat Ja,ci[tíeG and 
al!Jlll!llgaments omH,ita. 'll\le are a.lso
conltiinu1ing and deuelo,µÍlflg our IEPUC
prog,ramlll!llB. •11•hicih is mandated fur 
alll ¡pe,ople ,,mr1Jcing on our si:tes aimd
ñu.- ditttarent prospscti•..e ac1ml'ities.,
im,i:l!.Drlitng nmiañlTlf! acfä•itiE<!i.

O,ur approedh to aelEtctilîlQ aoo 
•rromng \\•i our 001111:racrors ,,r,i ll 
lrielp us tio dlali·,,ar fue proogr:1m1111B 
on ti1111116 aind bo buclgiat_ Thës inclluldaa: 

• 'l!ll'rnrld--01l3as oolllf:=1>oH,, with
=,µerience of :butmmalliing , Landion

•Conitiracits att1r8Jllls1iarcet'11aiin
risks 1D ou.-oofllll:ra.cborrs 'lhali they
8lf8 helîiEt" pia,oed 1lD mBl!111lga

• lfa:tl/b,fishmmenï (l(f llhe Alföanoe,
1o enoowmge OCHlpera.ton andl
Sllllll\Pºrt a.r:rwss 1fitla prniiecit 

• ,'1i.n ínJtegratEd. proecti •,10 a¡:!qlroBII:h
1o risk mBlil3gamenl

-· il
I!

• Heailth, Saffel:~• e.nd 'l¡\l'elll:!leiim¡¡¡ • Schedlule, Cos.t, aoo Q'Uaffit,¡

• Finanoing

I 
8 

No chBflge in risk level•
11',"a ha.•~e ac:fJnrel~• re,•Íf!l1ïlßdl fuis risk
dlurring the 1,eer. panï=ll3.-t:,r as ••e 
have 11TIJOIJilii<...ed on hie majollll:I"
of our ai'b:<s. Adciitionelll'.i', we harue
upda.1Bd llhe risk d,escrjp<tiion to 
refllect tthe pCli11ance of Bllauring
we mobiliise mariine ca¡pa.billit'J
safety a,s iii ramps ~-

No change in risk leYer 
O'Vlaral, our assas."SlfTllefllt ol llhe
risk and mi~a,tion maa.awee.
ÍIS umcltange,d, wilh some cost
pres.=res beranoed lltJ,· oarni111Q1Bí1c;y,
ooming tt-trough in !the year.
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3 Supply Chaill 
Failure 

Our delrver:i• strategy i:s based
on oursourcstq 1\'œks. Our ab1llit'!'
1o deli~,ar herafore depenos on
our coetractors' performance.
Our contractors operate nn a~i 
oompetitive emironmenl and may
experience financiar diflicu ties
1r,rough he del!N,ery• of 111,a procect.

4 High impact. low probab ìty
(HILP) ents

Major inves.tmenh proqramrnes are
complex and crallenging a.nd we 
could suifer ncl'dents that •n,ern h
un ikely ti.ut har,•e- a signifie.ant i pacl
These coutd affect the u nnel or
assets belongin,g to others.

5 Financial 
rïab 

Credit Ratings Risk
Arl•,,erse oparationm or manci-al
performance. or factors &temei
to he Gompa~\ could fesulh
in a crec!Jt ra1ling d<J1,\'ng1"81de. 

1f our coœtractors do n,cJ/1 deóv-ar a 
1Ji;,a stamdaJrds ,,,e e:x;p,ec t. ,ve mar¡ 
oot be able t.o delLver OC/If 1n1.'es.tment
programme en tíme BJrnd on bud¡peC.

HllP 611-ents coulld ha:"e a signi:ficsmt
a 'ect on cost. scbed le. ealth and
safe¡,,, or our repu'latioo. Thair m81Tloi31
impact could &oead our- in:aŒBnce
cmoer. daill!leging ou- 1in81Tlciial posimn
and our abililly 1o deli•,10r thie runneL

The íess o· an irr..esilment ÇTBde
crecilit ra1Jng woulld effect our
abiliti¡ 1D raJl93 deb t. 

The procurement process ensur-ed
our ,:,or,1Jra.cbors 'i'lil6r8 Eciln,icellliJ'
exc,ellsn11 and ffinam:;ial~y s!!rong.
a;ncl nimi'l:ed our exposure 1D an'.l'
one 0011,1nlc.tor. The contracts
oomtai s1E!p...jrn ri,;¡M~ I\IMIBTS.b~ 01111e 
oomillra.:.tor oottalal repla.oe a;nothec-, 
•ft•hioh would help, m1:ti~ a!jlElÍnst
fümsm,ciall tarllura The lllmlbers aí
Bill three cmnsmrta aire jamtt lll!lld
ae<,'t!t'"alfiy· liaih,lec

1Ne IIIHiniimriae tihe chan,i;e 1:15 thes,e
g¡¡-enra crccl!llflÍing ltr~• 111aing beslHin-olass
deSIÍgn. programme, ma;naget1111ilntt a1111cl 
apprnf)ria'IB conaeruction tecm11qU1Ba. 
Owr ool!lftra,cl!ncra ha.>,'<B e:ittll4!USÍ•,'<B
,mcpen,anc,e ,oí similar prnijectts. in 
Lacncloin and ive m81Tlc!ete complíiElnoa
wi 1l!rie Jlonnm COids of IRractice t:lf

RiiSk M.ana,gemecmt ofTwmmsllling
'IJ\l'arfils in l1li1la UK ln '!Ime unHililBI'.!' e,1ent
that we makla a olanlfll ffl¡¡a,t eocceaa!s
the limiíts ,of ,owr in:sl!llraJ!llce, file GSP
pro•,•ide<s su¡p¡port.

'•'•'e hœ,•e a robi.list delii,10.ry llll!lldell, 
w1thi1111 a regula.1ed líraime'i'liDik, EUl1ld
a GS P. M.aintail!lfÍng otr im¡pro'lling 
the '!Ïmmelí ne líD deliiu'Sr l!he l!wlnel
w1UI enl!trancia cmnffidefl,ce in our
credlil! wuf1l ines-s.. We mamltann a
conaen<a.1iiue lfümanai profiile allld
acJl:iu\B~}' manrsgie l'lisks. '/Ne regllJIIBlflly
em,g:a,ge 11,111:h ra.ting agem:Íllls.

• Schedula, Ca<Bt. amtd Q•ualiiliiJ' • Hleal!th. SaffelrJ eJrod '•'•'eHlbeing

• C.omp8i11~• .and People 
• Sclilladulle, Cost. arncl Qu131íJt>i

• Fïmumcinq

• IJ'isiccn. legBDj'. and Reputation

• Hl\1 81JllClllllQ 

No cha.nige ir, risk IE!'Ver 
We ,catmdJJJlctied a ful re,~ieN of aw
auplP~i ahai l~nclwlll,ing¡ BUbocmtractnr.;¡,
to assess ~he lrisk •n1ithi our cCI41ibraci:!1,
due bo Csrillftol!ll !JlllllllQ imo liquid81!íbn
earlie,- 1 the ~lilac. !l'-'Bn thoug¡h i,t is, nait
part of our s.uppOf chaân. l'his. 'ñ\!18 in 
addilìirnn to our busirtees as ,asu supply
chai re,,•i&ll"S.. We=cin•J>B ro lilllDniillor 
futs. clbsa~i BITlcl ill!we ul!IIDEt'1talken 
appropriate 001111:ingenc)' pf.Elllning..

No change ·n riek levef• Riek incrE!<IIS8d*

We •.-ien' 1fir,e llisk a:a bcroSJdlry 1111nclmimged.. 11'1\e nllltB l.taodf':a. hs,s reoduc:ed i1s
raitûng of the, .... ~ secror's reg!Ulla.1Dry
regÍlll!IB flfillm Ma bo ¡!¡,¡¡_ 

*Compared to previous year
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6 Inflation
Risk 7 Reput tion Ri k 

ere I'S a rrsk of li" ·1aoon 1f.a1 is lower
than assumed , n 'DŒ bosiness p n_

j 
D. ¡ 
• 0

W'fl are par icularly focused on fue ris ·
thai poor performanoe on our stte<s. on
the ri•,1Br IX 1\0i our 1110ighhours oould
damage our reputation and s.upporl

8 Tham ater
PerfOf"Tll .ance

Themes 1,','ater es a lœ~• partner
forTi m,¡a~. 1Ne ha•,,a il num ber of
por ani int.emctions •1,•iìh Thames

'l'Ifa~. inoluding its, cieli-..~)' of the
Thames 1,','aner Wms d•!.Wlng he
oonstruction period. the Handoi,-er 
anc:I Aocep-tanoe prooeaa and in
1he opEfillB:mal p,anod. 

Thames 1i't'ater aìso passes 
11B1J1Bnoo throug to TîdEl«S\1-

Our re-"9n'IJes are dirac1fy liinked
t.o he Re1a!il Pn,ce lncimc (R:PI).
and lower i111f.!ation woul,d Uharefore
reduce ooir ces flllJlll ooless our
coots r1111wed o 1he same bases, 

O!!S" RtCV .is inde.l:ed t.o RPI u;ntill 2030,
and lm11er i anon 11,oulld red'Uce
nomi1111al cas.hlllmws and ratruims..

ts 
I 

The loss oi Slllppol't from our
neighbours cw consent graming bodies 
coulld leac:l 1D delaiJ'B anc:I higha- costs,

Th.Ellrn!<S Water's fsJilura bo clalwer 1t-s
share of fue wCNrks oo•JJlc:I affect our
a.biilÍÌ)' bo deml"Br ow in•.-esiment
programrne on time anc:1 on l:lludQ'fl .

I Thames '1'1\Bllf!r doos not oompiy •ili~ h
die R&irenu,a ¡i.,9Jeemient. it. could hmre
a 1im.anc1eJ impact.

Tocte1wm}' hes ieaued !RPI aind
CPl-<inde.<ed debt. R'edur;tirnns in
lfB'>'BCllUe due llD !low· il!ll!ll!ition 1110ulid
theretfnra be pelf1iiall)• adf9Bt h~•
redl!JICtiona in Ï11111a1"8St cost,
The raswíllliir;g COTTelafüo lhetween
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Long-term viability statement
The UK Corporate Governance Code requires company directors to state whether they have a reasonable
expectation that Tideway will be able to continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over a
long-term period.
To assess the Group's long-term viability, the Board has:

• identified the most appropriate period over which to make the assessment;
• evaluated the Tideway's current position and future prospects; and
• considered the potential impact of principal risks over the period and, where appropriate,

analysed the potential financial impact under a suitable set of sensitivities.

The Board considers that it is now appropriate to assess the Tideway's viability over the period to 2030, in
line with Tideway's current regulatory period. This time horizon is supported by the progress made in the
implementation of our investment programme to date, and the significant de-risking of our financing plan
achieved during the last year. This period extends beyond the forecast timeline for delivery of the Thames
Tideway Tunnel and System Acceptance by Thames Water but is still covered by Tideway's planning
horizon which extends to the end of the current regulatory period (2030). The Board is not aware of any
specific relevant factors that would affect this statement beyond this period and therefore has no reason to
believe Tideway will not be viable over a longer period.

The viability assessment takes into account our business and financing plan which is prepared as part of
our annual planning process. The plan is consistent with our performance since Ofwat granted our Licence
in August 2015 and with our financial position at the end of the financial year. ln the period covered by this
Annual Report, we continued to implement our financing plan and raised £1.0Sbn of long-dated debt. Post
period end we raised additional £325m in long-dated bonds. Tideway has now raised £2.Sbn of long-term
financing since Licence Award, and we would be able to fund our operating activities and fixed charges
until 2030, using cash available in our balance sheet, the committed and undrawn debt facilities (including
the £750m Revolving Credit Facility), and the revenue we will generate over the period.

Where appropriate during the year, we conduct sensitivity analysis on our financial model to stress-test the
resilience of Tideway and our business model to the potential impact of our principal risks, or a combination
of those risks. For the purposes of this assessment, we have considered the likely impact of each principal
risk on Tideway's viability, taking into account the availability and effectiveness of risk mitigation plans and
the measures we could realistically take to avoid or reduce the impact or occurrence of the underlying risks.
ln considering the likely effectiveness of such actions, we take into account the Board's regular monitoring
and review of risk management and internal control systems.

We have assessed the potential impact of the principal risks on Tideway's viability by modelling a number
of scenarios, which have been discussed and agreed by the Board. We consider that there are three key
routes through which viability could be impacted: increases in the total cost of the project, reduction in
outturn inflation, and an increase in bad debt. For each of these routes, we have modelled three scenarios
representing impacts ranging from moderate to severe. For increases in the total cost we have modelled
10%, 20% and 30% increases in remaining cost to complete the project. For inflation risk we have modelled
scenarios where outturn inflation is 1 % and 2% lower than current expectations, as well as a scenario with
0% average inflation in the period. For bad debt, we have assumed a 50% lower revenue collection in one,
two and four years in the period. Finally, we have modelled a combined scenario with 20% cost increase,
2% lower inflation and 50% revenue under recovery for 2 years, which we consider a reasonable 'worst
case' combination of impacts given that we do not believe principal risks are strongly correlated.

The Board confirms that it conducted a robust assessment of the principal risks facing Tideway, including
those that would threaten its business model, future performance, solvency and/or liquidity, and which are
set out in the Principal Risks section of this report.

The outcome of the sensitivities has been assessed considering a range of different financial ratios. ln all
downside scenarios modelled, the ratios are robust, above the minimum requirements in our financing
covenants and consistent with an investment grade rating, and Tideway does not call on the Government
Support Package. The output of this analysis is summarised in the following table.
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ln reaching its conclusion, the Board has taken into account Ofwat's statutory duty to secure that companies
can finance their functions and has assumed that there will be no changes to the regulatory framework or
Government policy that will affect Tideway's viability.

The Board also believes that financing will be available to Tideway over the period covered by the analysis,
although given Tideway's liquidity position this assumption is no longer critical to arrive at the conclusion.
ln this respect, the Board believes that it is reasonable to assume that the purchasers of our deferred bonds
will honour their commitments given the diversification and credit worthiness of the institutions with which
Tideway has entered into such agreements.

We have undertaken a range of internal assurance activities, which the Board considers provide a robust
degree of assurance over the analysis. This long-term viability statement has also been reviewed by KPMG
as part of the statutory audit. The Board considers that this combination of internal and external assurance
means that checks have been carried out by parties with the most appropriate skills and knowledge.

On the basis of the robust assessment of our principal risks, and on the assumption that we manage or
mitigate them in the ways disclosed, the Board's review of the business plan and other matters considered
and reviewed during the year, and the results of our sensitivity analysis and assurance described above,
the Board has a reasonable expectation that Tideway will be able to continue in operation and meet its
liabilities as they fall due over the period to 2030.

The Board has also considered it appropriate to prepare the financial statements on the going concern
basis. The Directors believe, after due careful enquiry, that Tideway and Group have sufficient resources
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and therefore consider it appropriate to adopt
the going concern basis in preparing the 2018 financial statements.
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Performance Review
Health, Safety and Wellbeing

Ftguras from 2017/18 

mber of major inj ries
Targ t 

o o 
N mber of reporta le accidents

• Per \100.0!M' r.loors Wllm!!a'- Ira:: l1l!lll .Dmlll1 ITò'E! \ilf
£\ffl\(ll!i)EIM al'Jlil r:-amtraolnrs

Definition:
Major Injuries: Any serious injury that results in permanent disability, long-term medical problems or shortened life expectancy (i.e. life changing).
AFR-3: 12-month rolling average, per 100,000 hours worked, of injuries which occurred as a result of work activities and resulted in more than three
days lost time for the individual involved. Injuries included in AFR-7 will automatically be included in AFR-3.
AFR-7: 12-month rolling average, per 100,000 hours worked, of injuries which occurred as a result of work activities and resulted in more than seven
days lost time for the individual involved. Injuries included in AFR-7 will automatically be included in AFR-3.

Our priorities and peñormance for the year

Tideway's health, safety and wellbeing (HSW) objective is to achieve zero fatalities or major injuries, off­
site and on-site. We will do this by setting new standards for HSW through our transformational programme.
This is the right thing to do for those involved, as well as improving productivity and reducing the chance of
delays or stoppages.

ln support of this, our priorities for 2017/18 were to:

• continue the RightStart programme introduced in 2016/17, which aimed to reduce the number of
incidents in the first six months on-site, when accidents typically occur;

• continue to focus on leading indicators and assessment through our Health and Safety
Performance Index (HSPI);

• validate Tideway's approach to HSW through employee engagement;
• ensure no increase in risk as a result of marine activities; and
• increase our focus on occupational health and wellbeing across the programme.

Despite the ramp up on most of our sites, we were pleased that there were no major injuries this year,
which was a significant achievement for both Tideway and the people working on the project. However, we
did have a number of lost time incidents, including four injuries which contributed to AFR-7. We are
committed to finding ways to do things better and we have investigated these lost time incidents and
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implemented the lessons learned. Overall, our AFR-7 of 0.09 compares very favourably with other large
infrastructure projects during their mobilisation phase, and we will strive to continue this.

We recognise the importance of measuring ourselves against others and were pleased to achieve second
place for a "medium sized" organisation in the new entrant category for Vitality's Britain's Healthiest
Workplace 2017 competition. The results have highlighted strengths and improvement areas, which we will
look into, as well as a clear direction for our health and wellbeing programme.

RightWay

RightWay is Tideway's HSW strategy and approach. lt is shaped by:

• the recognition that 'we are all in it together', with a true sense of collaboration and a commitment
to a common goal;

• learning from previous projects, to identify best practice and implement it on Tideway;
• a supportive yet challenging collaboration between us and our supply chain;
• the creation of a supportive environment for our teams to thrive in; and
• the recognition that we need to focus on our people and innovative approaches, to push beyond

mere compliance and make significant improvement.

ln 2017/18, we embedded RightStart Reviews. These confirm that site start up and welfare arrangements
are effectively implemented in advance of any new works and that they meet Tideway's transformational
aspirations. RightStart Reviews complement standard readiness reviews, which confirm that all
engineering, health, safety and security, and consents requirements are in place. RightStart Reviews
ensure that we and the contractors discuss and agree the criteria that they are required to demonstrate, for
example relating to welfare or security.

The Transforming Health and Safety Working Group (THSG) is Alliance-wide. lt was established to look at
how we can make a difference to on-site activities, through the people involved in leading day-to-day health
and safety. During the year, the THSG improved its effectiveness and rigour by involving a broader range
of stakeholders and by improving the structure of its meetings, to ensure more transparency of sub-group
activities and greater visibility of actions raised in the group, to support the sharing of best practice.

EPIC

We established our innovative and interactive induction programme, EPIC, in 2015/16 and it has been
widely recognised as industry leading. lt is a mandatory, one-day immersive induction course, using actors
and a structured management training approach to help every individual understand what we want to
achieve and how we can all work together to make Tideway the safest and healthiest project yet. EPIC
provides a common language for everyone joining Tideway, before they start work.

To date, over 12,000 employees and contractors have attended the programme, including approximately
4,900 in 2017/18. This includes people working on Tideway and from other interested companies, allowing
us to further improve health and safety in the industry.

Following feedback from drivers attending the induction, EPIC Logistics was developed and launched in
2017/18. This was also approved by the Driver and Vehicle Standards Agency. EPIC Logistics aims to help
HGV drivers on Tideway understand their role in ensuring the safety and wellbeing of everyone on the
project, as well as the public.

ln December 2017, Tideway, in partnership with Active Training Team, won the 'Health, Safety and
Wellbeing Initiative of the Year' category at the 2017 New Civil Engineer Tunnelling Awards. ln addition,
EPIC has been shortlisted for the following 2018/19 awards:

• Construction News Awards 2018 - Training Excellence' category
• Water Industry Achievement Awards 2018 - 'Health and Safety Initiative of the Year' category for

EPIC
• Ground Engineering Awards 2018 - 'Health and Safety Award' category.

HSPI

We introduced HSPI in 2016/17. lt enables us to develop a balanced scorecard, so we can measure the
HSW performance of the contractors working on the project. HSPI comprises a set of leading performance
indicators, developed by analysing accident and incident data from previous projects and considering future
risk profiles. Each performance indicator is scored either:
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• O {does not meet basic HSW expectation);
• 1 (meets basic HSW expectations);
• 2 (exceeds HSW expectations); or
• 3 (meets transformational HSW expectations).

We review all indicators annually, to ensure they remain challenging and relevant to current and future
works and support our approach to transformational HSW. HSPI enables us to introduce targeted
improvements, specific to each MWC, to improve HSW on our sites further.

ln 2017/18, the overall HSPI score improved from 2.15 at 31 March 2017 to 2.24 at the end of March 2018,
with 11 of the 14 measures meeting or exceeding an average score of two.

Health, Safety and Wellbeing Culture Survey

Our first annual HSW Culture Survey completed in December. The survey explored employees' attitudes
and perceptions in key areas of HSW and was intended to identify further opportunities for improvement.
Initial reports were shared with the MWC and PM teams in January and we have identified initial areas of
improvement, such as managing stress. We are now carrying out further work to develop action plans to
address these improvement areas.

Mates in Mind

We recognise that mental health is a major issue in our sector and is important to our people and the
project. Tideway is therefore a sponsor and early adopter of the Mates in Mind programme, which has also
been adopted by the MWCs and PM. Mates in Mind aims to raise awareness and understanding of mental
health and mental ill-health in construction, helping people to understand how, when and where to get
support and breaking through silence and stigma by promoting a culture of positive wellbeing throughout
the industry.

Start the Conversation

Tideway launched 'Start the Conversation' training sessions in February 2018, as part of the Mates in Mind
programme. The 45 minute sessions are delivered by trained Tideway employees and aim to create general
awareness and understanding of mental health and its biggest barriers, particularly in the workplace. To
date, 110 Tideway employees have attended sessions, with further sessions being rolled out by MWCs on
sites across the programme.

Mental Health First Aiders

ln addition to training 40 mental health first aiders to date, we hosted our first Mental Health First Aiders
Networking Group event on 23 February. The group provides a support network for all trained mental health
first aiders on the programme. The networking events will be held regularly, ensuring attendees are
refreshed on key topics that were taught in training.

Marine Training

Marine training is important because of the significant positive impact we can have as the river economy
develops. We are seeking to drive change in an industry that has had less attention to date than general
construction and as a result has a different culture.

Our HSW Training Team has worked extensively with Thames Skills Academy (TSA) to introduce a
Personal Survival course, which is suitable for our operatives. ln addition to providing information about the
riverside environments, the course allows candidates to experience entering the water with an auto-inflating
lifejacket. With the TSA, Tideway has worked with HR Wallingford to develop a programme for Boat Masters
and vessel Mates, including use of Thames river simulators. The programme continues to be rolled out with
the marine operators. During the year, 8 boat masters have been trained across the programme, bringing
the total over the project to 24.

The Marine Safety Group was formed in 2017/18 to encourage dialogue between marine contractors,
MWCs, Programme Manager and Tideway. This includes sharing of best practices and lessons learned
following incidents, and the development of new initiatives to help improve all aspects of marine operations
on Tideway.

The group identified two key actions for implementation across the programme:

• Development of an EPIC refresher module focused on marine safety, which is currently in the
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early development stage; and
• Engagement of an independent body to carry out an audit on marine activities. This was

conducted during the final quarter of 2017/18. The initial findings were presented at the Marine
Safety Working Group, with the final report currently being produced.

Security and Incident and Crisis Management

During the year, we implemented new incident management procedures following a review of our
processes. The new procedures are now aligned to national best practice and the Joint Emergency
Services Interoperability Principles (JESIP). ln addition, we conducted two incident/crisis management
exercises at our head office, using a new exercise provider, London Resilience (the resilience forum for
London). This makes Tideway the first private sector company to conduct an exercise with London
Resilience.

Schedule, Cost and Quality

Delivery a . inst the regulatory
seline-oost 

Target 

£3.5 
Actual 

Defivery against the regulatory
baseline - schedute

*Tideway's element of the programme in outturn prices (based on current inflationary expectations), up to System Acceptance by
Thames Water. Ofwat has set a regulatory baseline of £3.1 bn (in 2014/15 prices, with the total of £3.5bn in outturn prices)

Our priorities for the year

Our objective is to deliver the Thames Tideway Tunnel safely at the right quality and to best value. Finishing
earlier would reduce cost, benefiting bill payers and investors, as well as delivering environmental benefits
more quickly and reducing disruption to local residents.

Our focus on the highest levels of safety, the best schedule possible and the most efficient use of the river
all serve our ambition to deliver the tunnel at the lowest possible cost.

Performance

This has been a challenging but highly successful year, as we have significantly progressed design and
consenting and started on all but one of our sites. The change at many of our sites is clear to see, as we
look forward to starting tunnelling this year.

Our performance in the year is in line with the challenging targets we set ourselves to make a positive start
and de-risk the delivery of the project. The last year has a built a solid foundation on which we can continue
to deliver the project, ensuring we are in line with our regulatory cost of £3.5bn (outturn prices) and
handoverbyquarterone2024.
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To achieve this, we have worked through the challenges typical of the early phase of any major
infrastructure project in a busy city. These included developing high-quality designs, building teams with
the right skills and expertise, establishing the construction sites and securing the necessary consents, so
we could start major engineering works in some of the most congested areas of London. Making a positive
start, while keeping our people as safe as possible, has given us greater confidence on meeting our
schedule.

We have made significant progress at our three main drive sites. At Carnwath Road in the West, we have
constructed an acoustic shed to minimise disruption to residents and begun excavating the shaft. At Kirtling
Street in our Central section, we have excavated the shaft down to 53m and constructed the launch tunnels
for the TBMs. This is our first piece of tunnelling on the project and paves the way to launch the TBMs later
this year. At our Chambers Wharf site in the East, we have completed the construction of a cofferdam to
increase the size of the site. This has allowed us to install a diaphragm wall in the chalk, in readiness for
excavating the shaft.

ln preparation for receiving our TBMs, we held a public competition, with over 24,000 votes submitted, to
select names based on well-known women from the boroughs the machines will be launched from.
Following this, the project took delivery of three TBMs (Rachel, Millicent and Ursula) this year.
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During the year, we have seen our initiative to encourage the use of low entry cab (LEC) HGV's bear fruit,
with the first concrete deliveries from this type of vehicle. The LEC vehicles ensure better visibility for
drivers, reducing the likelihood of injuring vulnerable road users.

Commercial

The Company has made certain scope changes under the contracts, such as the 'More by River' initiative
and changes at Blackfriars due to a reassessment of our interaction with other utilities. The combination of
these factors has resulted in an increase to each of the Main Works Contractors' target prices since Licence
Award. Due to this the Company has allocated contingency within the Regulatory Baseline to reflect the
increase in target prices. This contingency was included in the original baseline to recognise the cost impact
of Company retained risks. As we allocate contingency there is less unallocated contingency available
within the Regulatory Baseline to fund any Company retained risks that materialise in future. However, as
work progresses the Company has the benefit of greater clarity over the cost and timing of the works
generally. We remain on track to deliver the project to both time and our regulatory baseline cost.

Working with our stakeholders

Securing the consents required was key to achieving start on site. We have therefore worked closely with
all of the consent granting bodies: Transport for London (TfL}, the Port of London Authority (PLA), the
Marine Maritime Organisation (MMO}, the Environment Agency (EA) and local authorities. As we have set
up joint offices with the Project Manager and Main Works Contractors, we have focused on finding ways to
work as collaboratively as possible with the consent granting bodies, some of whom joined in the co­
location. As a result, we have developed good working relationships with all consent granting bodies.
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More by River

We know the importance to our neighbours and to London of using the river as much as possible. Our
commitment to do 'More by River' aims to get as much traffic as possible off the roads, increase safety and
reduce congestion around our sites, and benefit air quality and congestion in London more
generally. During the year, we delivered three TBMs by river to our sites at Carnwath Road and Kirtling
Street. We also use the river to deliver materials to all of our foreshore sites and to remove spoil excavated.

Innovation

Tideway's Innovation programme has had an exciting year in terms of engagement campaigns within and
outside the Groupy, innovations invested in and fruits of previous years' innovations being realised.
Colleagues across the Alliance continued to develop novel solutions, implement innovative technologies
and share their knowledge on the online industry innovation portal, with 50 innovations published online
and 80 new ideas submitted to our Innovation team. Tideway invested over £270,000 in new ideas, which
included over £93,500 for plant telematics and over £21,000 for low carbon cement free concrete trials,
both successful pitches aimed at reducing the project's carbon footprint as well as cost. Plant telematics is
expected to realise significant cost savings, estimated at approximately £400,000 in the first year alone.

Tideway continued to engage across the industry to support collaboration and innovation. This included
Andy Mitchell chairing the cross-industry group i3P and hosting its first live funding event, i3P Spark. This
had over 30 collaborative submissions from member organisations, with £100,000 from the i3P
Collaborative Innovation Fund invested in three winning pitches from the final. These were the ideas
deemed to have the highest potential to benefit the whole industry.

Area Summary
West Area

Tideway's West team has been working with the MWC, BMB, to successfully mobilise on all seven of the
West sites: Acton Storm Tanks, Hammersmith Pumping Station, Barn Elms, Putney Embankment
Foreshore, Dormay Street, King George's Park and Carnwath Road Riverside.

The most obvious sign of progress is at our Carnwath Road site, where we have started excavating a shaft
from which we will launch the TBM. We have built an acoustic enclosure to reduce the impact on local
residents, which includes two gantry cranes and a concrete batching plant to support the shaft construction
and tunnelling. We have also installed around 500 piles to support the site structures and strengthen the
river wall, allowing us to move materials by river.

Rachel, our first TBM to arrive on the project, was delivered to Carnwath Road Riverside site on 1 December
2017 and will tunnel to Acton Storm Tanks. Charlotte, the second TBM for the West, is currently being
refurbished and will arrive at Dormay Street later in the year. Charlotte will construct the Frogmore
Connection Tunnel from King George's Park in Wandsworth to Carnwath Road.

At Putney, the year began with completion of the temporary slipway, which opened for public use in June
2017. The main works design and construction methodology were changed at the Putney site, so they are
safer and offer significant potential savings and a shorter construction programme than the original solution.
Both the temporary and permanent works piling are planned to be completed by the end of 2018, as well
as starting construction of the shaft. ln March 2018, the Heads of the River Race and the University Boat
Race both used the site safely and successfully. Our team ensured that the University Boat Race Slipway,
which is within our site, could be used to start the races.

BMB started at Dormay Street in June 2017, with the welfare facilities and office opening in November 2017
on Causeway Island. We installed a 30m footbridge over the Bell Lane Creek, to allow safe access for
workers and increase efficiency between the two sections of the site. River wall strengthening works are
ongoing prior to shaft construction, with shaft piling planned in May 2018.

At Hammersmith, we completed all pilling works and have begun modifications to the Inlet Works, new
pumping station, shaft and culvert excavation.

At Barn Elms, construction of the new changing rooms has started and they are scheduled to be open in
Autumn 2018.

King George's Park was handed over to BMB by Thames Water in November 2017. One of the key activities
was completing the temporary footpath through the site, which was handed over and opened by the London
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Borough of Wandsworth Parks Team in December 2017. ln addition, we built a bridge to protect the existing
sewer, allowing vehicles and plant to access the entire site.

Acton Storm Tanks was the final of the seven sites to mobilise in November 2017. Site set up has begun,
together with initial enabling works.

Our team in the West has worked hard to minimise disruption for the local residents and hold regular
meetings to allow local communities to engage with the project.

Central Area

Working with the MWC, FLO, our Central Team made concerted and high-profile progress across all eight
sites in the Central Section. Our progress over the past year has built on the solid foundation of the previous
year, with some significant works packages complete and many more started.

Progress has been most significant at the main drive site at Kirtling Street, where we completed the shaft
excavation, following the completion of the diaphragm walls forming the sides of the shaft. The site now
has a shaft more than 50m deep and more than 30m in diameter, providing an imposing and dramatic
beginning to the construction of the main tunnel. Above ground, the site team has constructed an acoustic
enclosure, which is a 25m tall structure designed to protect our neighbours from noise arising from the
works inside.

At Blackfriars, the team has worked hard to overcome some significant engineering challenges primarily
caused by the project's reassessment of the tunnel's proximity to two large Victorian gas mains. We need
to ensure that the mains are not damaged by our works and we have been working very closely with Cadent,
City of London and TfL to come up with a solution. This has required us to alter our method of construction
which has impacts on schedule and cost at this site. We have also agreed with our contractor FLO revised
commercial arrangements for the site. During this year, we will explore how best to optimise the scheme at
this complex site. The team has done an excellent job and we have started construction of a cofferdam, in
line with our programme.

At Victoria Embankment, we have continued site works to drive a sheet pile cofferdam, providing a strong
wall in the river foreshore behind which we can begin construction of the drop shaft and associated
structures. Both the Blackfriars and Victoria sites have also made a significant mark on the landscape, with
striking hoardings and cabins in some of the most visible parts of the city, which are popular with tourists
and Londoners alike.

At Albert Embankment, we completed works to install protective noise insulation, providing the mitigation
required for businesses next to the site. This was followed by the construction of a sheet piled cofferdam
and works to divert several important utilities at the site.

We have set up Heathwall pumping station, close to Kirtling Street, with the installation of cabins and the
completion of enabling works to protect utilities running close to the worksite. The Chelsea Embankment
Foreshore site has provided a unique challenge, with the site team working hard to accommodate the
specific needs of the annual Chelsea Flower Show alongside our works. With piling started, the team is
engaging well with the Royal Hospital Chelsea to protect its vital income streams during the main works
construction.

At Cremarne Wharf, the Central team has worked with Thames Water to support its works around the
Counter's Creek Flood Alleviation Scheme. We are now working to set up the site at Cremarne Wharf,
carrying out a range of works in the existing sewer network and on the site to prepare for main works
construction.

At Falconbrook Pumping Station, works to set up the site have continued, with Tideway taking possession
of the site from Thames Water and setting up site hoarding and preparing for main works.

The Central Team has continued to engage with our local communities and holds sessions monthly for all
affected. At our Blackfriars site, we produce a monthly newsletter which is shared with all local businesses
and residents, helping to ensure positive working relationships. The team is involved in the community,
carrying out volunteering activities including helping with a local homeless charity and painting and repairing
a local community centre.

We successfully took delivery of the two TBMs for the Central Section by river. The TBMs, named Millicent
and Ursula, were built in Le Creusot, France, and have travelled 500 miles to London.
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The next year will be critical for the Central Section of the project, as we launch the two TBMs and expand
our foreshore sites into the river. Following the concerted efforts of the site teams, the Central Delivery
Team is in a strong position to tackle the challenges of the coming year.

East Area

2017/18 saw significant progress across the eastern section, reflecting the collaborative approach between
us and CVB, our MWC for the East.

At our main drive site, Chambers Wharf, we successfully completed the cofferdam, which increased the
size of the site by 40%. The existing jetty was then removed and the team has now completed the
diaphragm walls of the shaft using an innovative electrically powered hydrofraise. This reduces noise and
shows our commitment to mitigating the impact on our neighbours and other local stakeholders. The works
saw 35,000 tonnes of material being excavated, all of which was removed from site by barge in line with
Tideway's More by River commitment. Similarly, all reinforcement cages for the walls were delivered to site
by barge. We successfully completed fissure grouting at the site with the creation of a grout block of
17,000m3, to reduce the permeability of the chalk at the tunnel apertures. The site is now preparing to
begin archaeology undertakings, shaft excavation and the installation of the acoustic enclosure.

At King Edward Memorial Park we opened the new permanent playground. This leaves a lasting legacy for
the community in Tower Hamlets and has been well received locally. Completion of the cofferdam is taking
longer than planned, due to unexpected ground conditions which require the team to install some additional
piles. During the installation of the cofferdam at King Edward Memorial Park a jack-up barge became
unstable and as a precaution we evacuated the neighbouring flats. This obviously caused concern and
disruption to our neighbours and we have taken their feedback in refining our incident management plans.
Diaphragm walling is now planned to start in 2019.

Excellent progress continues at Greenwich pumping station, where the team has worked closely with key
stakeholders. A significant incident in the sewers at Greenwich led Thames Water to revise its sewer entry
conditions across all of its assets and Tideway is working closely with Thames Water to embed these
arrangements. Close collaborative working with Thames Water, Network Rail and Docklands Light Railway
was instrumental in ensuring that diaphragm walling started on time and recent progress has been ahead
of our regulatory baseline.

At our Deptford Church Street site, the offices are now fully installed and the team is getting ready for the
start of diaphragm walling. At Earl Pumping Station, work continues with site preparation.

The two east TBMs, Selina and Annie, will be used to drive the tunnel from Chambers Wharf to Abbey Mills
and the Greenwich Connection Tunnel. Design and manufacture of the TBMs is currently under way in
Germany and the team is developing delivery options for them, utilising the river as much as possible.

Engaging with our local residents and stakeholders remains key for the East team, as we recognise the
impact that works can have on them. Community Liaison Working Groups are now running at all our sites.
The community information centre is open every week at Chambers Wharf and is a valuable space to
engage with local residents and stakeholders. The team also continues to work closely with our consenting
bodies and local authorities and maintains strong and open relationships with our key stakeholders.
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Vision, Legacy and Reputation
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Our priorities for the year

We want to create a supportive environment for delivering the tunnel, by building positive relationships with
our stakeholders and demonstrating that we are meeting our commitments to leave a positive legacy.

Legacy

Our objective for 2017/18 was to ensure that we continue to integrate our legacy commitments into all
facets of our operations. Our Legacy Statement sets out detailed commitments for delivering lasting project
benefits, from realising jobs and skills opportunities to keeping our carbon emissions down. This year our
aim was to exceed our ambitious target of 75 per cent of live legacy commitments being on track at the
year end. By the end of the year, 79 per cent were on track, which meant we exceeded our target when
averaged across the year, with plans in place to address the lagging commitments. ln addition, an
independent assessment of the social value of our legacy commitments has shown that the anticipated
return on investment for every Tideway pound spent was approximately £3.39.

Stakeholders

With work now under way at 20 of our 21 sites, we are more visible and our work has greater impact. This
year we continued to build relationships with the communities we work within, as well as a wide range of
other stakeholders across London.

Community Liaison Working Groups (CLWGs) now operate at each site in various formats, depending on
the specific nature of the works and the best way to engage local residents and stakeholders. Our Helpdesk,
which operates 24 hours a day, seven days a week, dealt with over 4,000 calls during the year and updates
and news about the project published via social media channels saw a significant uptake.
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Our contractors' community relations teams are based on site, reflecting our commitment to engaging with
the communities in which we are working. The last year also saw the opening of the Community Information
Centre at Carnwath Road, adding to the centres at Kirtling Street and Chambers Wharf. The centres allow
us to host visits and events, to explain our works and the construction milestones to our stakeholders.

With greater activity on site, we have been able to use site tours as a way of engaging our stakeholders
with our work. These complement the regular Tideway boat tours that we run to explain project aims,
objectives and progress. Approximately 400 stakeholders joined one of the 50 boat tours held in the year,
with plans in place to deliver these types of engagement opportunities for a general public audience in the
year ahead. As part of the Government's flagship Skills Summit, we hosted the Education Secretary on a
site visit to Kirtling Street, together with national media, to showcase Tideway's apprenticeship
commitments.

To mark the centenary of the Representation of the People Act 1918, Tideway participated in the
Government's 'suffragette flag relay', celebrating 100 years since women over the age of 30 were given
the right to vote. A replica of the suffragist flag has travelled the country to mark the anniversary and made
a stop at our Kirtling Street site as part of the celebration, further emphasising Tideway's commitments to
diversity and gender parity.

Carbon

Tideway is a signatory to the Infrastructure Carbon Review. We made good progress in the year, achieving
75% of our Carbon Action Plan target. Further work is being undertaken with the remaining 25% to ensure
that we achieve 100%. This resulted in progression along the maturity matrix, which is reported in full to
the Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (BEIS). ln the past year, our MWCs have been
able to obtain more accurate carbon data, which resulted in our carbon footprint being reduced to 787,889
tonnes from 840,000 tonnes CO2e. Our MWCs continue to report carbon performance on a quarterly basis,
which will start to show the benefits of initiatives funded through our innovation programme and maximising
our use of the River Thames as an artery to import and export materials.

Community investment and charitable giving

As part of our commitment to engaging with and supporting the communities we are working in, we actively
support a number of community-based projects and charities.

Our partnerships with London Youth Rowing (LYR) and Thames21 had significant achievements in the
year. LYR's new Active Row programme, funded by Sport England and Tideway, helped more than 2,700
young people to get active through rowing, representing a great start towards its target of reaching 8,000
youngsters over four years. Thames River Watch is the Tideway-funded programme run by the
environmental charity Thames21, which recruits and trains volunteers to collect data on litter found in the
Thames. This data was used by the GLA's Environment Committee to support its case for new policies on
plastic waste. Mayor of London Sadiq Khan subsequently announced the introduction of water fountains to
help tackle the problem.

Our local community investment programme ramped up in the year, to keep pace with the increase in our
on-site activity. Highlights included the completion of a new children's playground at King Edward Memorial
Park in Tower Hamlets; the start of work to build a new arts and community centre in Sands End, Fulham;
and the funding of a new lease for a community centre in Kensington and Chelsea, to allow the World's
End and Lots Road Big Local, a local trust, to continue to support community projects.

Tideway staff also continued to raise considerable amounts for London charities. One of the highlights was
in June, when 90 staff in 12 boats rowed nine miles down the Thames from Chelsea to Deptford. With
Tideway matched funding, they raised £37,000 for the AHOY Centre at Deptford, which supports
disadvantaged and disabled children through rowing and water sports.

At the end of 2017, Tideway staff elected three new charity partners as the focus for their fundraising: South
London Cares, which is a community network of younger professionals and older neighbours helping one
another; Single Homeless Project, which supports homeless people across London; and Drive Forward
Foundation, which supports care leavers aged 16 to 24 looking for employment. During 2017/18, Tideway
staff raised a total of £43,303 for charity through organised and individual events. Tideway itself gave a
total of £40,062 in charitable donations in 2017/18, in addition to the community investments mentioned
above.
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Educational outreach
ln 2017/18, Tideway's education programme celebrated its fifth year of operation, over which period some
3,000 hours of volunteering have taken place. ln the last financial year alone, the programme has reached
over 4,000 young people with over 400 hours volunteered by Tideway staff.

The programme continues to develop new and innovative approaches to working with schools and colleges,
to promote careers in engineering and construction whilst also delivering programmes that have become
commonplace in our school engagement calendar.

A new development this year was the launch of our augmented reality tunnelling application, which provides
teachers, students, and the wider community with an interactive way to learn about the project and has
already been downloaded hundreds of times. This marks a new direction for our online educational
resources, away from set piece lesson activities, towards shorter interventions that provide teachers with
the flexible resources they need for a modern classroom environment.

Meanwhile our activity for British Science Week, STEM on the Thames, saw over 500 young people
participate in an exciting week of activity out on the River Thames, learning about engineering, the river
and the environment around them.

We are forging deeper relationships with new partner schools in strategically important boroughs. Over 80
STEM ambassadors have participated in events with our partner schools or supported careers fairs, work
experience students or educational programmes with our partners, such as the Construction Youth Trust.

Supply chain

Our commitment to supporting the London and UK economy is demonstrated through our supply chain
spend. This has extended throughout the UK and included the provision of technical equipment and
services, materials and plant, labour, accommodation and catering facilities.

Ethical supply chain management is strategically significant for us, as shown by our:

• requirement for all full-time site and office-based employees on Tideway to be paid at least the
London Living Wage, with robust assurance processes in place to identify and address any non­
compliance;

• our Fair Payment Charter, which supports BEIS's ambition to ensure the construction industry
has standard 30 day payment terms. We issued the Charter to all 1,029 supply chain companies
in the UK and the 33 companies from outside the UK, and required them to comply with it;

• responsible sourcing, which requires all of our key building materials, principally steel, cement,
aggregates and timber, to be certified to either Building Research Establishment's (BRE)
responsible sourcing standard BES 6001 Very Good or above, CARES Sustainable
Constructional Steel (SGS), Eco-Reinforcement or FSC or PEFC timber, as applicable;

• staff engage in policies, procedures and awareness events covering the complexities of human
rights and ethics in the supply chain, including our Modern Slavery Statement, Anti Bribery and
Anti-Corruption procedures; and

• compliance with the Ethical Trading Initiative Base Code.
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Our priorities for the year

Our priority for 2017/18 was to evolve the capabilities of the organisation, to support and encourage efficient
delivery through a motivated and empowered team.

Performance

Overall it was a successful year, with a variety of initiatives delivering benefits across the organisation,
including the office move and implementation of our Tideway Operating Model (TOM). We introduced
innovative ways of working, both physically and virtually, and we continue to promote flexible working
arrangements to improve wellness and employee satisfaction. We also implemented new office layouts to
improve collaboration in our new London Bridge office. ln addition, we reviewed our communication
channels to make more information available and ensure all staff are kept up to date and have the right
information and tools to be effective in their day-to-day work.

These changes were reflected in our 2017 employee survey, which included Tideway, Jacobs (formerly
CH2M), agency workers and subcontractors. Employee engagement increased from 63 per cent to 64 per
cent and enablement from 67 per cent to 71 per cent, indicating that we are improving and that our people
feel valued and empowered.
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Review of Corporate Structure
During the year, we invested time in ensuring that all parts of the organisation are clear on their respective
roles and responsibilities, and developed the TOM, which clarifies and optimises the role of the Client,
Programme Manager and MWCs. This has led to some restructuring within the Group, to realign roles to
the TOM and to align the organisation to the current delivery phase of the project. Our efforts in this area
were reflected in the 2017 Engagement survey, which saw an eight percentage point improvement in the
"Work, Structure and Process" category. This is seven per cent above the UK norm.

Collaboration continues to improve across the project, as a result of implementing improved IT collaboration
systems and tools, which have been positively received, as well as the relocation from Paddington to
London Bridge, which has brought the organisation physically closer together as well as improving our
working space.

The TOM developments, along with the information system and process improvements, were recognised
in the Engagement survey with a nine percentage point increase in people agreeing that decisions are
made at the lowest level. However, the overall score of 28 per cent is below the UK norm and will be the
focus of training and continuous improvement activities for the coming year.

During Autumn 2017, we achieved compliance with the 2015 versions of ISO 9001, the Quality
Management standard, and ISO 14001 Environmental Management, and maintained compliance with
OHSAS 18001: 2007 for Health and Safety.

Diversity and lnclusivity

Through our employee-led diversity forum, Encompass, we focus on all aspects of diversity. Some of the
key activities and achievements in 2017/18 included:

• employing the Business Disability Forum to assess our premises and develop an improvement
plan;

• completing our first Stonewall LGBT+ survey, achieving 227th out of 460 with an action plan for
improvement; and

• being named in The Times Top 50 Employers for Women 2018, with Chief Executive Officer
Andy Mitchell a Finalist in the Gender Champion Award category.

lnclusivity is important for Tideway and we continue to outperform external benchmarks when employees
are asked whether the Group values promotes diversity. Our score for this question was up one percentage
point to 90 per cent favourable, which is above the UK average.

We recognise the importance of diversity and its positive impact on Company performance. Gender
diversity is a key performance indicator for us and we finished the financial year with 36 per cent female
staff. This is below our end of year target of 40 per cent. However, we continue to seek ways to achieve
our aim of gender parity by the end of construction.

Headcount 
(as at 31 March 2018t 

Female 
31

March
2018 

Male
31 

March
2018

Total 
31 

March
2018

Female
31 

March
2017

Male
31 

March
2017

Total 
31 

March
2017

- - -- - - -
Boaro".. 2 11 13 3 9 12 

Senior Management 20 33 53 18 34 52

Olher Employees 153 271 424 159 261 420 

Tot.al• 175 315 490 180 304 484 I
*Includes Tideway employees and our project management contractors (Jacobs)
** Includes shareholder Directors

Talent

We reviewed our talent management and succession planning during the year, as a regular health check
of the business and to ensure we have appropriate bench strength for key roles, as part of Tideway's
structured performance review process. Tideway's organisational size and shape will continue to evolve
over the life of the project and our approach ensures that individuals are supported in their career within
the project, as well as their potential external roles in the future.
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During the year, we made progress on our plans to develop the next generation of talent and help local and
disadvantaged people into employment. This included targets for Tideway and our contractors to employ
apprentices, local people and ex-offenders as follows:

One in 50 staff should be a new apprentice. As at the year end, 52 apprentices were employed,
of which 38 are new apprentices on the project. This equated to 1 in 53 people being a new
apprentice and the average for the year is 1 in 47.
One in 100 should be an ex-offender. Currently 19 ex-offenders have been recruited through our
work with ex-offender organisations and 1 in 107 are ex-offenders, with a average for the year of
1 in 104.
25 per cent of our workforce should be resident across the 14 London Boroughs impacted by our
works. Our current performance is at 21 %.

Further work is being undertaken to ensure we continue to improve on these metrics and attain the desired
result.

We have developed an effective apprenticeship programme, which in the last 12 months has extended
beyond engineering to include corporate functions such as business administration and project
management. We are working with several organisations to support individuals who are ex-offenders or
currently not in work, by providing training, work experience placements or permanent roles. Our HR staff
have been trained by Nacra, the ex-offender charity, on fair recruitment processes and we are launching
an upskilling programme across the Alliance and part-funded by the Construction Industry Training Board
{CITB), to enable progression of staff into better paid, higher quality roles.

Tideway is committed to ensuring that all our employees are paid at or above the London Living Wage and
have set it as a minimum for contractor staff working full time on site. Currently, 99.6% of all staff who have
employment on the project, excluding apprentices, are paid at or above the London Living Wage, with
efforts in place to resolve cases of non-compliance. We are working hard to identify and resolve outstanding
cases.

Ethics and Human Rights

Ethical behaviour and human rights are core to Tideway's ethos and operations. We participate in APRES
(Action Programme for Responsible and Ethical Sourcing) and adhere to the International Labour
Organisation's {ILO) Ethical Trading Initiative Code, giving a clear framework for our employees,
contractors and stakeholders.

We ensure that:
• staff engage in policies, procedures and awareness events covering the complexities of human

rights and ethics in the supply chain, including our Modern Slavery Statement, Anti Bribery and
Anti-Corruption procedures;

• staff undertake mandatory training throughout the year;
• our contractors have similar policies and training programmes in place;
• our MWCs follow the Ethical Trading Initiative Base Code;
• all new suppliers meet Tideway standards in ethics and human rights, via the Tideway new

supplier process; and
• staff have a confidential 24-hour whistleblowing helpline, allowing them to ask questions, raise

concerns or report violations of our ethical and human rights stance.

Tideway was an early signatory to the Responsible and Ethical Sourcing Handbook, providing funding and
participating in the initial working groups.
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Financing

Ma" tain o cl'!
Target 

Baa1/BBB+

rating 
Actual 

Baa1/B B+
,toady's. e

·nt.ai strong iquidíty positío

Target

18
Actua

4
yea 

Continue de-risking of financing
P'an by issuing inflation-linked 

and nominal debt

of nominal debt of nominal debt
*The Group has been assigned a corporate family credit rating of Baa1 by Moody's and the Group's Revolving Credit Facility (RCF)
has been rated BBB+ by Fitch.

Treasury policy

Tideway's treasury policy incorporates the corporate objective of financing the Group while minimising risk.
Our target is to maintain a robust investment grade credit rating at all times.

Financing activity

As at 31 March 2018, we had received £1,274.0m from shareholders, which was the full commitment at
Licence Award, in line with our equity-first approach to financing. This was in the form of £509.?m of equity
and £764.5m of shareholder loans. Part of the shareholder loans has since been repaid and the balance at
31 March 2018 was £714.4m. The revolving credit facility remained undrawn during the period and the
commitment at the year end stood at £750m, after the cancellation of £250m in March 2018.

We continued to make timely progress with implementing our financing plan and the £1.05bn of long-term
financing closed during the year helped secure the financing for our investment programme and further
locked in our financing costs. These transactions also confirmed the downward trajectory of Tideway's
credit margin, in line with the growing confidence in and maturity of the execution of our financing and
delivery plans.

Our multi-format debt platform supports the raising of long-term debt via structural enhancements that
include a bankruptcy-remote structure and a package of covenants and restrictions protecting cash flows.
The debt platform includes a multi-currency bond programme, which is listed on the regulated market of
the London Stock Exchange. Tideway's prospectus for the listing was updated in June 2017.
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ln April 2017, we entered £1 00m of long-term inflation linked financing with an institutional investor. This
was our first index-linked issuance in loan format with an investor, demonstrating the benefits of our flexible
platform which enables us to issue seamlessly in different markets and with different instruments.

ln June 2017, we priced a £300 million US private placement (USPP) with a group of US investors,
diversifying our investor base and adding resilience to the execution of the financing plan. This transaction
funded in September, has a nominal interest rate and achieved a competitive rate, paving the way for the
nominal public green bond issued later in the year.

During the year, we issued four bonds under the multi-currency bond platform, the first of which was in July
2017, when we priced a £125m deferred draw bond. Our differed draw down issuance enables us to de­
risk our financing plan and secure the best possible borrowing terms by locking in committed debt funding
at current market rates and managing negative carry costs associated with pre-funding.

This was followed by three bonds issued on a cash basis. Two of these, which we issued in August and
November, were indexed to the consumer price indexed (CPI), a first for Tideway. We also issued our debut
public bond in November as a green bond (see below).

Green Bonds

Green bonds are debt instruments whose proceeds fund projects with environmental benefits, such as the
Thames Tideway Tunnel. Tideway has become the largest corporate issuer of Green Bonds in sterling with
£775 million of issuance, £325m of which was post year-end.

Over two consecutive days in November 2017 Tideway issued a £250 million debut green public bond, with
a nominal interest rate, followed by a £200 million green CPI-linked private placement, both issued under
Tideway's multicurrency bond programme. This last transaction won an mtn-i Deal of the Year award, as it
was both an index-linked bond with an inflation floor and ceiling and a green bond.

As part of the execution of our green bond strategy, we published our Green Bond Framework aligned with
the four core components of the International Capital Markets Association Green Bond Principles. This is
a set of voluntary process guidelines that recommend transparency, disclosure and reporting. The
framework included a description of Tideway and the sustainable legacy programme, as well as
undertakings about the use of proceeds and reporting.

These issuances have several innovative features:

The public bond was the first debut public bond issued as a green bond in the UK. We went
to market on the day of the Autumn Budget 2017 and the day before the US Thanksgiving
holiday, and were the only corporate issuer in Europe on the day. The transaction was well
received by investors and was more than three times oversubscribed.

• The private placement was the first UK private placement issued as a green bond and the
first combination of index-linked issuance with green bond, making us also the largest CPI­
linked issuer in the UK; and
ln the Green Bond Framework, we aligned our sustainability commitments to the UN
Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). Tideway will make a direct contribution to seven of
the SDGs.

We retained S&P Global Ratings to provide a Green Evaluation for the bond programme and for bond
series issued under the programme. A green evaluation produces a relative green impact score for debt
instruments financing environmental beneficial projects and is a second opinion aligned with the Green
Bond Principles. This was S&P's first public green evaluation in the UK and it achieved the highest S&P
mitigation score to date and the joint-highest overall score of E1 - 95/1 OO.

The Green Bond Framework and the Green Evaluation have been published on our website.

Tideway's green bonds were covered by the specialist press and were mentioned in the government's "A
Green Future: Our 25 Year Plan to Improve the Environment" published in January.

Hedging

We hedged £?Om of the USPP £300m transaction by entering into two hedging transactions to lock-in the
cost until maturity on an RPI basis.

We will continue to manage interest rates on our debt programme, balancing the objective of securing long­
term rates with the likely changes arising after the end of the current regulatory period in 2030.
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Distributions

At Licence Award our shareholders committed a total amount of £1,274m in the form of equity and
shareholder loans. This has been fully injected in Tideway and future investment will be debt financed. As
a result, our gearing increases to our target capital structure as Tideway delivers its investment programme,
risks are retired, and debt is used to fund the investment.

We capitalise our construction costs and do not expect to record distributable profits until after System
Acceptance, which means we do not expect to pay dividends during the construction period. Distributions
to shareholders prior to System Acceptance are through the payment of interest and repayment of the
principal of our shareholders loans. This mechanism was put in place during the Infrastructure Provider (IP)
equity procurement process run by Thames Water and overseen by Ofwat and the UK Government and
was key to achieving the low cost of capital bid by our shareholders. Ultimately Thames Water's wastewater
customers benefit from the low cost of capital achieved through the procurement through a lower charge in
their bills. ln 2017/18 we made distributions totalling £75.Sm through payment of interest and repayment of
principal on our shareholder loans.

When approving the amount of distributions at each distribution date, the Board sets the total amount and
a profile of distributions that is consistent with our target capital structure at Handover. The Board also
considers the operational and financial performance of the Group and the cumulative yield to ensure it is
consistent with the level set during the equity procurement process.

Liquidity

At 31 March 2018, we had total liquidity of £3bn, comprising £904m of cash, the £750m undrawn RCF, the
£700m Eiß loan, £575m of bonds and a £100m loan. This, combined with expected revenue collection,
provides liquidity significantly in excess of our 18-month target, including all debt requirements to System
Acceptance.

Ratings

Moody's and Fitch assigned investment grade credit ratings of Baa1 and BBB+ respectively to our bond
issuances, consistent with the initial ratings received at Licence Award and affirmed during the year.
Moody's also assigned a rating of Baa1 to the USPP transaction.

Investment Management

The disbursement profile of shareholders' funds and the £825m of new debt issued and drawn during the
year led to us benefiting from substantial cash balances during the year, averaging £631 m per daily close.
We managed these cash balances by adhering to the set limits and criteria of our approved investment
management strategy, prioritising the preservation of principal, ensuring adequate liquidity and striving to
optimise the yield. During the year, we held cash in three types of instrument: bank accounts with our main
bankers, Lloyds Bank; money market deposits with a fixed maturity date, held with our relationship banks;
and money market funds with immediate cash availability, held with selected institutions.

ln 2017/18, we generated a total return of around £2.3m on our cash balances, at an average yield of 0.37%
per annum for the year. The return averaged 3 basis points below the base rate, driven by the Bank of
England interest rate increase to 0.5% per annum in November 2017 and the large influx of cash after our
successful debt issuance.

Post year end issuance

ln April 2018, we issued another £150m long-term inflation linked green bond and in May we had three
bond issuances totalling £175m, also linked to inflation and in green bond format. These issuances further
lock-in our financing costs and continue the innovative strategy of pricing bonds with long deferral periods
to match our investment profile. These new bonds take Tideway's green bond issuance to £775m.

We continue to review our capital raising strategy and the markets in which we do so, as well as the potential
for additional pre-funding to take advantage of market conditions and further de-risk the financing plan.

Reporting

We regularly update our main stakeholders on our progress with our delivery and financing plans to, through
the quarterly meetings of the Liaison Committee attended by Thames Water, Defra, Ofwat and the
Environment Agency. We also report regularly to our lender investors, in compliance with the terms of our
financing documents and the GSP.
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Financial performance review
Accounting basis

Our financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS). Under IFRS, we consider that lease accounting is the most appropriate accounting basis
for Tideway post System Acceptance. Accordingly, during the construction phase of the project,
expenditure which is directly attributable to bringing the TTT into its intended use will be capitalised as an
asset under construction within the Statement of Financial Position. Similarly, during the construction
phase, we recognise the regulated revenue received from Thames Water as 'deferred income' within the
Statement of Financial Position.

Non-GAAP measures

ln our financial reporting, we use certain measures that are not required under IFRS, the Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) under which we report. We believe these measures are valuable
to the users of the accounts in helping them understand our underlying business performance. Our principle
non-GAAP measure is Allowable and Excluded Project Spend.

Under our Licence, our costs are classified as either 'Allowable Project Spend' or 'Excluded Project Spend'.

Allowable Project Spend (on a cash basis) is added to our RCV. Excluded Project Spend (on a cash basis),
such as financing costs, is not added to the RCV.

Allowable costs are costs stated on an accruals basis, which form part of the Allowable Project Spend (and
are added to our RCV) when the underlying assets or liabilities are cash settled. Excluded costs are costs
stated on an accruals basis which will be Excluded Project Spend (and not added to our RCV) when the
underlying assets or liabilities are cash settled.

For the purposes of calculating net cash/{debt), Borrowings include all intra-group and third- party
borrowings with the exclusion of shareholder loan notes.

Income statement

During the year ended 31 March 2018, Tideway reported a profit of £9.5m (2016/17: £34.2m loss), with no
dividends paid or proposed (2016/17: £nil). We did not recognise any taxable profits in the period (2016/17:
£nil) and therefore have no corporation tax charges (2016/17: £nil).

We do not consider that the reported profit in the year reflects our business performance, as it results from
the movement in the fair value in the Group's financial instruments. These are long-term swaps which we
entered into with commercial banks to economically hedge the interest costs of the Group's debt. The
swaps fix finance costs for the Group's regulatory period and ensure that we benefit from low-cost financing.

The movement in fair value of these financial instruments is recognised in the Income Statement because,
under IAS 23, these do not represent current borrowing costs incurred for financing the project and so,
unlike our other expenditure, cannot be capitalised. Note 11 to the financial statements provides more
details on the financial instruments.

We have made a 'disregard election' to HMRC effective from 1 April 2016, which means that any gains or
losses arising from the movement in the fair value will be disregarded for current tax purposes.

Statement of financial position

The table below analyses capitalised costs in the Statement of Financial Position (on an accruals basis)
and the associated cash outflows.
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Analysi5 of Costs 
and Cash Outflows (£m) Cost5 

2017/18

Timing Cash 
Differences Outflows Costs 

2016/17

Timing Oash
Oifference.s Outflows

Alowabe 542.7 {24.5) 518.2 348.0 (7.5) 340.5 

Excluded 66.3 45.4 111.7 36.7 53.1 69.8 

I Total 609.0 20.9 629.9 384.7 45.6 430.3 I
I Brought Forward 545.9 161.2 

I Capitalised Costs• 1,154.9 I 546.9 

* Capitalised Costs is the GAAP measure and aligns to note 6 of the financial statements 

For the year ended 31 March 2018, our Allowable Project Spend is lower than the Allowable costs, as our
Allowable costs include the timing of accruals and unwinding of prepayments of items, including insurance
contracts and the GSP. The Excluded cash outflows are significantly higher than the Excluded costs. This
is mainly due to the £23.8m (2017: £24.1 m) repayment of shareholder loans and £9.8m (2017: £12.1 m)
timing of VAT payments, which are not included within Excluded costs.

At 31 March 2018, costs of £1, 154.9m were capitalised within the asset under construction in the Statement
of Financial Position. This represents £609.0m costs during the year and £545.9m for the prior periods to
31 March 2017.

The table below analyses Allowable costs:

Aßowable Costs {Em) 2017/18 2016/17

Direct Costs I 443.2 262.6 

Resource Costs 68.4 00..3 

Other Œndireot Costs 31.1 25.1

Iner ct Costs 99.6 85A 

I Total 642.7 348.0 j

Direct costs

Direct costs are primarily the MWC (Main Work Contractors) costs. They also include the System Integrator
Contract and in 2016/17 the contract with Volkerstevin to provide services and works for the removal and
replacement of piers and the relocation of marine vessels.

The direct costs incurred in the year have increased significantly compared with 2016/17, reflecting the
increase level of construction as we further mobilise on our sites in preparation for tunnelling.

Indirect costs

The largest indirect cost is Resource Costs of £68.4m. This represents the cost to employ the c479 average
FTEs (2016/17 c450 average FTEs) either employed or contracted by the Group. The Other Indirect Costs
include information systems, insurance, GSP, office and other running costs.

Indirect costs have increased compared with 2016/17, reflecting the growth in FTEs to support the
increased level of construction.

Excluded costs

The Excluded costs (on an accruals basis) for the year ended 31 March 2018 were £66.3m. These comprise
£61.Sm of interest payable (including shareholder loans), £7.1 m of costs which mainly relate to financing,
partly offset by £2.3m interest receivable.
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Net cash and financing

At 31 March 2018, the Group's cash and cash equivalents were £846.4m. Borrowings (excluding
shareholder loans) were £825.9m. These were in the form of £301.5m of fixed-rate loans, £247.2m of
fixed-rate bonds and £277.2m of index-linked bonds.

The net cash balance (cash and cash equivalents less borrowings excluding shareholder loans) at 31 March
2018 was £20.5m, which was £295.4m lower than the £315.9m net cash at 31 March 2017.

ln addition, the Group has secured deferred loans of £800.0m and deferred bond issuances of £575.0m
which will be reflected in the financial statements when they are drawn down in the future. The Revolving
Credit facility remained undrawn during the period and the commitment at the year end stood at £750.0m.

Revenue

Within the financial statements, all revenue is recorded as deferred income in the Statement of Financial
Position, in line with our revenue recognition accounting policy. Revenue of £32.1 m is reported for the year,
which is based on the latest estimate.

During the year, we received cash inflows of £26.8m from revenue (£32.1 m including VAT), which includes
some revenue from 2016/17.

Tax strategy

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that we comply with tax laws in the UK, which is the only territory
we undertake our business activities in. Our business activities mean that we fall under corporation,
employment and other taxes. ln addition, we collect and pay employee taxes, as well as indirect taxes such
as VAT. The taxes we collect and pay make an economic contribution to the UK. Tideway is part of the
Bazalgette Equity Limited Group, of which all members are domiciled in the UK. We consider the interaction
with Group members when we implement our tax policy.

During the construction phase, all attributable expenditure required to construct the TTT is considered to
be capital in nature and is capitalised. Revenue we receive from Thames Water is deferred onto the
Statement of Financial Position. The calculation of taxable profit follows the accounting treatment in the
Income Statement and as a result, we do not expect to recognise taxable profits during the construction
phase. This is in line with expectations at the time Tideway was procured and customers benefit in full from
lower bills.

The loan relationships we have entered into will generate carried forward deductions into future taxation
periods. Our ability to use these deductions will depend on the tax law at that time and the availability of
taxable profits to offset the deductions against.

During the year we carried out a review of the new tax legislation changes including the new Corporate
Interest Restriction rules. This involved establishing the likely interest deductibility position for Tideway and
the options available to utilise these. As a result of the review, presently we have decided not to elect for
the Public Benefit Infrastructure Exemption.

We are committed to complying with tax laws in a responsible manner and to having open and constructive
relationships with the tax authorities.

This strategy is based on the following principles:

• Tax planning: We will engage in tax planning that supports our business and reflects
commercial and economic activity. We will not engage in artificial tax arrangements and will
adhere to relevant tax laws and seek to minimise the risk of uncertainty or dispute;

• Relationship with HM Revenue & Customs (HMRC): We will seek to build and maintain a
constructive relationship with HMRC. We will work collaboratively wherever possible with HMRC
to resolve disputes and to achieve agreement and certainty. We will engage with the government
on the development of tax laws where we can and the tax law change is relevant to Tideway's
business activities;

• Transparency: We support measures that build greater transparency, increase understanding of
tax systems and build public trust;

• Tax risk management: We identify, assess and manage tax risks and account for them
appropriately. Risk management measures are implemented including controls over compliance
processes and monitoring of effectiveness; and

• Governance: The Chief Financial Officer (CFO) is responsible for and implements our approach
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to tax, which is reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee. The CFO is also responsible for
ensuring that appropriate policies and procedures are in place and maintained and that the
financial control team, with specialist external support as necessary, has the appropriate skills
and experience to implement the approach effectively.

The Jtrategic report was approved by the Board on the 21 June 2018 and was signed on its behalf by:ve_~ 
Valmai Barclay
Company Secretary
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Directors' report
The directors present their report and the audited Group and Company financial statements of Bazalgette
Holdings Limited ("the Company'') for the year ended 31 March 2018.

The registered company number is 09553510.

Financial results and dividends

The Group recorded a profit of £9.5m for the year (2017: £34.2m loss). The profit reflects the fair value
movement of the Group's derivative financial instruments. The detailed financial results of the Group are
set out in the financial performance review within the Strategic report on pages 39-41.

The Company did not pay any dividends in the year (2017: £nil).

During the year, £51.6m (2017: £29.3m) of shareholder loan interest was accrued on the shareholder loan
notes. At 31 March 2018, £51.6m (2017: £29.3m) of the accrued shareholder loan interest had been paid
and £nil (2017: £nil) rolled up within the shareholder loans. The shareholder loan notes bear an interest
rate of 8, per cent, with maturity on 30 September 2064. Further details of the shareholder loan notes are
set out in note 11 of the financial statements.

Financial risk management

Full disclosure on the Group's financial risk management is set out in note 12 of the financial statements.

Directors

The directors who held office during the year, and thereafter, for the Company were as follows:

Andrew Cox

Jaroslava Korpancova

Scott McGregor

Joseph Philipsz

Alistair Ray

Angela Roshier

Michael Ryan

Gavin Tait

Amanda Woods

(resigned 23 March 2018)

(appointed 23 March 2018)

(appointed 19 February 2018)

(resigned 19 February 2018)

Directors' Indemnities

The Group has had in place directors and Officers Liability insurance for the period.

Employees

The average number of persons employed by the Group (including directors) during the year was 179
(2017: 151 ), who were all employed by Bazalgette Tunnel Limited. At the Statement of Financial Position
date, the Company did not employ any staff directly.

Details relating to the Group's employment policies and values are set out on pages 33-35 of the Strategic
report.

Greenhouse gas emissions
The Group's approach to identifying and reducing its greenhouse gas emissions is set out in the Strategic
Report on page 31.
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Charitable and political donations

The Group made charitable donations totalling £40,062 during the year (2017: £51,356). Details of the
Group's charitable partnerships are set out on page 31 of the Strategic report.

The Group did not make any political donations or incur any political expenditure during the year (2017:
£nil).

Payment to suppliers

Settlement terms are agreed with suppliers as part of the contract terms and the Company's policy is
to pay in accordance with these terms. Other creditors are paid in accordance with invoice terms.

The Group, along with its Main Work Contractors, has signed up to the Construction Supply Chain
Payment Charter. The Charter applies to all construction contracts with the aim of helping to create a
more collaborative culture and ensure a strong, resilient and sustainable supply chain.

The creditor days for the year ending 31 March 2018 are approximately 21 days (2017: 17 days).

Events occurring after the reporting period

Details of any events occurring after the reporting date are included in note 18 of the financial
statements.

Future Outlook
The future outlook of the Group is discussed in the Strategic Report. The Company is expected to
continue to act as the ultimate holding company within the Group for the foreseeable future.

Disclosure of information to auditor

The directors who held office at the date of approval of this Directors' report confirm that, so far as
they are each aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company's auditor is unaware
and each director has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director to make
themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the company's auditor is
aware of that information.

Other information
An indication of likely future developments in the business and particulars of significant events which
have occurred since the end of the financial year have been included in the Strategic report.

Auditor

Pursuant to Section 487 of the Companies Act 2006, the auditor will be deemed to be reappointed and
KPMG LLP will therefore continue in office.
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Statement of Directors' responsibilities in respect of the Strategic report, the
Directors' report and the financial statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group and parent Company
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare Group and parent Company financial statements for
each financial year. Under that law they have elected to prepare the Group and parent Company
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union (IFRSs as adopted by the EU) and applicable law.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied
that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and parent Company and of their
profit or loss for that period. ln preparing each of the Group and parent Company financial statements,
the directors are required to:

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

make judgements and estimates that are reasonable, relevant and reliable;

• state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU;

assess the Group and parent Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern; and

use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Group or the
parent Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the parent Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the parent Company and enable them to ensure that its financial statements
comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are responsible for such internal control as they determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably
open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other
irregularities.

Under applicable law and regulations, the directors are also responsible for preparing a Strategic
Report and a Directors' Report that complies with that law and those regulations.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial
information included on the company's website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

We consider the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable
and provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess the group's position and
performance, business model and strategy.

Valmai Barclay
Company Secretary

Cottons Centre
Cottons Lane
London
SE1 2 QG
21 June 2018
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Independent
auditor's report
to the members of Bazalgette Holdings Limited
only

l. Our opinion on the financial statements is unmodified

We have audited the financial statements of Bazalgette Holdings limited for the year ended 31 March 2018 which comprise the Group
Income Statement, Group Statement of Comprehensive Income, Group and Company Statement of Changes ln Equity, Group and
Company Balance Sheet, Group and Company Statement of Cash Flows, and the related Notes including the accounting policies in Note
l. 
ln our opinion:

the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's and the parent company's affairs as at 31 March 2018
and of the Group's profit for the year then ended;
the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the European Union (IFRSs as adopted by the EU);
the parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and as
applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and
the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

2. Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) ("ISAs (UK)") and applicable law. Our
responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and are independent of the Group in
accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a
sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.

Overview

Materiality: group
financial statements as a
whole

£5.2m (2017: £3.0m) 

0.98% (2017: O. 78%) of gross expenditure

Coverage 100% (2017:100%) of group profit before tax

Risks of material misstatement vs 2017 

Recurring risks Completeness and existence of
capitalised costs and creditors

◄►
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Recoverability of parent company's
investment in subsidiaries and intra
group receivable balances.

◄►
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: 2. Key audit matters: our assessment of risks of material misstatement : 
I I

: Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements :
and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) identified by us, including those :
which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the : 
engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our ]
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opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. ln arriving at our opinion above, the key audit matters, in
decreasing order of audit significance, were as follows:

The risk Our response

Hxed assets & capital creditors

Copitafised costs: 
(£609.0 million; 2017: £384.6 million)

Copitaf creditors 

Refer to 56 (accounting policy) and poge 62 
(financio/ disclosures). 

2017 /2018 costs 

The Company incurs significant annual
expenditure in relation to the construction of the
wastewater infrastructure asset. We do not
consider the completeness and existence of
capitalized costs and capital creditors to be at a
high risk of significant misstatement. However,
due to their materiality in the context of the
financial statements as a whole, they are
considered to be the area which has the greatest
effects on our overall audit strategy and allocation
of resources in planning and completing our audit.

Our procedures included:

- Control design: Testing controls over the payment/ cost
verification process which includes observing that for a sample of
payments they were agreed to certificates, the amounts matched
the invoices received and payments by the company were
authorised.

- Test of detail: Inspecting a sample of invoices received
before and subsequent to the year end to consider the timing of
work performed and therefore whether costs and creditors have
been recorded in the correct year.

- Test of detail: For a sample of amounts capitalised in the
year, inspecting the related invoices to assess that the amount
had been incurred.

- Test of detail: Comparing a sample of the claims from the
independent project manager's assessment to the claims
recorded by the company to assess completeness.

Recoverability of parent company's
investment in subsidiary

(£509. 7 million; 2017: £370.5 million)

Refer to poge 62 (financial disclosures). 

Low risk, high value

The carrying amount of the parent company's
investments in subsidiaries represents 41.64%
(2017: 41.18%) of the company's total assets.
Their recoverability is not at a high risk of
significant misstatement or subject to significant
judgement. However, due to their materiality in
the context of the parent company financial
statements, this is considered to be the area that
had the greatest effect on our overall parent
company audit.

Our procedures included:

Test of detail: Comparing the carrying amount of 100% of
investments representing 100% (2017:100%)of the total
investment balance with the relevant subsidiaries' draft balance
sheet to identify whether their net assets, being an
appro,cimation of their minimum recoverable amount, were in
excess of their carrying amount and assessing whether those
subsidiaries have historically been profit-making or if they have
potential to recover any obligations.

Assessing subsidiary audits: Assessing the work performed by
the subsidiary audit team and considering the results of that
work, on the subsidiary's profits and net assets.

Our sector experience: Comparing the carrying amount of the
investment with the expected value of BTL based on future cash
flow projections for the next 8 years.

Recoverability of parent's company intra­
group receivable balance due from
subsidiary

£714.4m million; (2017: £529.3) 

Refer to page 63 (financial disclosures). 

Low risk, high value
The carrying amount of the intra-group debtor
balance represents 58% (2017: 58.9%) of the
company's total assets. Their recoverability is not
at a high risk of significant misstatement or subject
to significant judgement. However, due to their
materiality in the context of the company's
financial statements, this is considered to be the
area that had the greatest effect on our overall
company audit.

Our procedures included:

Tests of detail: Assessing 100% of intra-group debtors to identify,
with reference to the relevant debtors' draft balance sheet,
whether they have a positive net asset value and therefore
coverage of the debt owed.

Assessing subsidiary audits: Assessing the work performed by
the subsidiary audit team and considering the results of that
work, on the subsidiary's profits and net assets.
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Our sector experience: Comparing the carrying amount of the
investment with the expected value of BTL based on future cash
flow projections for the next 8 years.
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3. Our application of materiality and an overview
of the scope of our audit

Materiality for the Group financial statements as a
whole was set at £5.2m (2017: £3.0m),
determined with reference to a benchmark of
gross expenditure in the year, of which it
represents 0.98% (2017: O. 78%).

Bazalgette Tunnel Limited is part of a group
headed by Bazalgette Holdings Limited.
Materialityof£5.2m (2017: £3.0m), as
communicated by the subsidiary audit team, has
been applied to the audit of the parent Company.
This is lower than the materiality we would
otherwise have determined by reference to total
assets and represents 100% of the Company's
profit before tax (2017: 100%).

We agreed to report to the Audit Committee any
corrected or uncorrected identified
misstatements exceeding £260,000, in addition to
other identified misstatements that warranted
reporting on qualitative grounds.

The audit team performed the audit of the Group
as if it was a single aggregated set of financial
information.

4 We have nothing to report on going concern

Strategic report and directors' report 

Gross Expenditure
£525.6m (2017: £384. 7m)

■ Gross expenditure
■ Group materiality

Materiality
£5.2m (2017: £3.0m)

£5.2m 
Whole financial
statements materiality
(2017: £3.0m) 

£3.9m (2017: £2.2m) 
Performance Materiality

£0.26m 
Misstatements reported to the audit
committee (2017: £0.lSm) 

We are required to report to you if we have anything material to add or draw attention to in relation to the directors' statement in
note 1 to the financial statements on the use of the going concern basis of accounting with no material uncertainties that may cast
significant doubt over the Group and Company's use of that basis for a period of at least twelve months from the date of approval
of the financial statements. We have nothing to report in these respects.

S We have nothing to report on the other information in the Annual Report

The directors are responsible for the other information presented in the Annual Report together with the financial statements. Our
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or,
except as explicitly stated below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our financial statements audit
work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based
solely on that work we have not identified material misstatements in the other information.

Based solely on our work on the other information:
- we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and the directors' report;
- in our opinion the information given in those reports for the financial year is consistent with the financial statements; and
- in our opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.
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] Disclosures of principal risks and longer-term viability ¡
I I
I I
: Based on the knowledge we acquired during our financial statements audit, we have nothing material to add or draw attention to in :
: relation to: :
I I
I I

l the directors' confirmation within the long-term viability statement page x that they have carried out a robust assessment of the :
i principal risks facing the Group, including those that would threaten its business model, future performance, solvency and liquidity; ¡
I I
I I
: the Principal Risks disclosures describing these risks and explaining how they are being managed and mitigated; and :
I I
I I

: the directors' explanation in the long-term viability statement of how they have assessed the prospects of the Group, over what :
¡ period they have done so and why they considered that period to be appropriate, and their statement as to whether they have a ¡
: reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the period of :
: their assessment, including any related disclosures drawing attention to any necessary qualifications or assumptions. :
I I
I I

: Corporate governance disclosures : 
I I
I Il We are required to report to you if: J

I I
I I
: we have identified material inconsistencies between the knowledge we acquired during our financial statements audit and the J

: directors' statement that they consider that the annual report and financial statements taken as a whole is fair, balanced and J

: understandable and provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess the company's position and performance, business :
¡ model and strategy; or i
I I
I I
: the section of the annual report describing the work of the Audit Committee does not appropriately address matters communicated :
J by us to the Audit Committee. :
I I
I I

I We have nothing to report in these respects.

6 We have nothing to report on the other matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or
the Parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

7 Respective responsibilities

Directors' responsibilities 

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 45, the Directors are responsible for: the preparation of the financial
statements including being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the Group and
Parent company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Group or Parent company or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor's report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.
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A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FR C's website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.
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: 8 The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities :
I I
I I

l This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act :
[ 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's members those matters we are required to J

: state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or :
: assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company's members, as a body, for our audit work, for this :
: report, or for the opinions we have formed. 1
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ta tory Auditor
Ctiartered Accountants
15 Canada Square
London
E14 SGL
21 June 2018
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Bazalgette Holdings Limited
Annual report and financial statements 2018

Group Income Statement
For the year ended 31 March 2018 

Note 2018
£m

2017
£m

Net operating costs 2, 3 

Operating result

Net finance income/(costs) 4 9.5 (34.2)

Profit/{loss) before tax 9.5 (34.2)

Taxation 5

Profit/(loss) for the year 9.5 (34.2)

Group Statement of Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 March 2018 

2017
£m

ProfiU(Loss) for the year

Other comprehensive income for the year

2018
£m

9.5 (34.2)

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to
owners of the parent

9.5 (34.2)

Notes 1 to 18 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Group and Company Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 March 2018 

Group Group Company Company
Note 2018 2017 2018 2017

£m £m £m £m
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 6 1,154.9 545.9
Trade and other receivables 8 54.5 54.8 714.4 529.3
Investment in subsidiary undertakings 7 509.7 370.5

1,209.4 600.7 1,224.1 899.8

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 8 32.8 29.8
Cash and cash equivalents 9 846.4 315.9
Short-term cash deposits 9 57.5

936.7 345.7

Total assets 2,146.1 946.4 1,224.1 899.8

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 10 (39.1) (20.0)

(39.1) (20.0)

Non-current liabilities
Other Payables 10 (3.5)
Advance payment liability 10 (53.5) (26.7)
Borrowings 11 (1,540.3) (529.3) (714.4) (529.4)
Derivative financial instruments 12 (24.7) (34.2)

(1,622.0) (590.2) (714.4) (529.4)

Total liabilities (1,661.1) (610.2) (714.4) (529.4)

Net assets 485.0 336.2 509.7 370.4

Equity

Share capital 13 509.7 370.4 509.7 370.4
Retained earnings 13 (24.7) (34.2)

Total equity 485.0 336.2 509.7 370.4

These financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 21 June 2018 and were signedz::·v
Gavin Tait
Director
Company registered number: 09553510
Notes 1 to 18 form an integral part of these financial statements
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Group and Company Statement of Changes in Equity

Group Company

Share Retained Total Share Retained Total
capital earnings equity capital earnings equity

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Balance at 1 April 2016 138.3 138.3 138.3 138.3

Loss for the year (34.2) (34.2)
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income for the (34.2) (34.2)
year

--- -- 
Transactions with owners recorded
directly in equity:
Issue of ordinary shares 232.1 232.1 232.1 232.1

Total contributions by and 232.1 232.1 232.1 232.1
distributions to owners of the parent

Balance at 31 March 2017 370.4 (34.2) 336.2 370.4 370.4

Balance at 1 April 2017 370.4 (34.2) 336.2 370.4 370.4

Profit for the year 9.5 9.5

Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income for the 9.5 9.5
year

--- -- 
Transactions with owners recorded
directly in equity:
Issue of ordinary shares 139.3 139.9 139.3 139.3

Total contributions by and 139.3 139.3 139.3 139.3
distributions to owners of the parent

Balance at 31 March 2018 509.7 (24.7) 485.0 509.7 509.7

Notes 1 to 18 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Group and Company Cash Flow Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2018 

Group Group Company Company

Note 2018 2017 2018 2017
£m £m £m £m

Cash flows from operating activities before
working capital movements

Increase in trade and other receivables 8 (2.7) (4.4) (185.1) (324.2)
lncrease/(decrease) in trade and other payables 10 22.6 (8.4)
Increase in advance payment liability 10 26.8 26.7

Cash flows from/(used in) operations 46.7 13.9 (185.1) (324.2)

Net cash flow from/(used in) operating 46.7 13.9 (185.1) (324.2)
activities

Cash flows used in investing activities
Construction of infrastructure asset 6 (605.2) (384.7)
Short-term cash deposits 9 (57.5) 17.5
Investment in subsidiary undertaking (139.3) (232.2)

Net cash flows used in investing activities (662.7) (367.2) (139.3) (232.2)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from the issue of share capital 13 139.3 232.1 139.3 232.1
Proceeds from shareholder loans 208.9 348.3 208.9 348.3
Proceeds from loan from subsidiary undertaking 822.1 0.1
Repayment of shareholders loan principal (23.8) (24.1) (23.8) (24.1)

Net cash flows from financing activities 1,146.5 556.3 324.4 556.4

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 530.5 203.0
during the year

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the year 9 315.9 112.9

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 9 846.4 315.9
year

Notes 1 to 18 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements

1 Significant accounting policies
Basis of preparation
Bazalgette Holdings Limited ("the Company") is domiciled in the United Kingdom. The registered address
of the Company is Cottons Centre, Cottons Lane, London, SE1 2QG. The accounting policies set out
below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these group and parent company
financial statements.

As at the 31 March 2018, the Bazalgette Holdings Group comprised the Company, Bazalgette Tunnel
Limited ("BTL"), Thames Tideway Tunnel Limited ("TTT Ltd") and Bazalgette Finance pic ("FinCo"). TTT
Ltd was voluntarily dissolved in April 2018 and its last date of trading was 31 March 2017. The Group
financial statements consolidate those of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as "the
Group").

The Company financial statements present information about the Company as a separate entity and not
about its Group.

The Group and the Company financial statements have been prepared and approved by the directors in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU ("adopted IFRS"). The
financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost accounting convention except
where adopted IFRS requires an alternative treatment. Where items are sufficiently significant by virtue
of their size or nature, they are disclosed separately in the financial statements in order to aid the reader's
understanding of the Group and the Company's financial position.

ln the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, the directors are required to make certain
judgements, estimates and assumptions that it believes are reasonable based on the information
available. The directors consider the significant judgements, estimates and assumptions made in the
application of these accounting policies that have significant effect on the financial statements with a risk
of material adjustment to the carrying amounts in the next year are as follows:

Impairment - ln assessing the recoverable value of the Thames Tideway Tunnel asset, the directors are
required to make judgements around the assumptions and estimates used to calculate the recoverable
amount of the asset which is deemed to be the Group's Regulatory Capital Value ("RCV"). This is because
the asset carrying value includes all attributable costs that are capitalised whereas the RCV, which is the
driver of economic return for the Group, does not include financing costs such as capitalised borrowing
costs.

The significant judgements that the directors are required to make include the reasonableness of the
capital expenditure profile through to System Acceptance presented in the Group's business plans as well
as assumptions included for RCV development through to System Acceptance. The indexation of RCV
via RPI change is a key estimate and this calculation is based on an average of independent forecasts
provided via HM Treasury.

Derivative financial instruments - A net present value model is used to estimate the fair value of the
Group's derivative financial instruments which are all index-linked swaps. This requires management to
estimate future cash flows based on market data. Projected cash flows are then discounted back using
discount rates which are derived from market data adjusted for management's estimate of the Group's
credit risk. This estimate of the Group's credit risk is considered to be an unobservable input and
sensitivities with regards to the impact of this adjustment are disclosed in note 12.

Capitalised costs/creditors - The Group has a substantial capital programme and therefore incurs
significant annual expenditure in relation to the construction of the Thames Tideway Tunnel asset. All
costs incurred are capitalised as assets under construction. Due to the significance of these costs the
directors need to ensure their completeness, existence and validity is appropriately monitored and
controlled.

Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. ln assessing control, the Group takes into consideration potential voting
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rights that are currently exercisable. The acquisition date is the date on which control is transferred to the
acquirer. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements
from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

Going Concern

The directors have, at the time of approving the financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the
Company and the Group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Thus, they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
financial statements. Further detail is contained in the long-term viability statement included in the
Strategic report on pages 20 to 21.

Property, plant and equipment

Recognition and measurement 

Property, plant and equipment comprises assets under the course of construction.

Additions to assets under construction represent the capitalised costs of project expenditure by the Group.

The construction phase of the Thames Tideway Tunnel project commenced in 2015 and is expected to
be completed at System Acceptance. During the construction phase of the project, expenditure which is
directly attributable to bringing the Thames Tideway Tunnel asset into its working condition for its intended
use will be capitalised within assets under construction. The directors consider that the Group is
constructing one asset, that being the Thames Tideway Tunnel, and do not consider there to be other
individual assets under construction.

The directors consider all expenditure in the year ended 31 March 2018 to have met the capitalisation
criteria.

Assets under construction are measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Land and property acquired for the Thames Tideway Tunnel project by Thames Water is not included in
the Statement of Financial Position because the economic benefit of such assets is retained by Thames
Water.

Depreciation 

Assets under construction are not depreciated.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets are added to the cost of those assets, until such time that those assets are ready for their intended
use. A qualifying asset is defined as an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get
ready for its intended use or sale. A substantial period of time is interpreted as being greater than one
year.

Impairment

The directors consider assets under construction to consist of a single asset, the Thames Tideway Tunnel.
As such, impairment is considered in the context of the whole asset under construction as opposed to
review of individual components.

The carrying value of the Group's asset under construction is reviewed at each reporting date to determine
whether there is objective evidence the asset is impaired. The directors consider the asset to be impaired
if the forecast carrying value of the asset at System Acceptance exceeds the forecast recoverable value
of the asset at System Acceptance.

For other financial and non-financial assets, the Group reviews the individual carrying amount of those
assets to determine whether there is any indication of impairment in those assets. If any such impairment
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is calculated in order to determine the extent of any
impairment loss.

Any impairment losses are recognised in the Income Statement.
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Revenue and bad debt risk

The Group's revenue for each financial year is determined by arrangements set out in its licence granted
by Ofwat. During the construction period of the Thames Tideway Tunnel the primary component of
revenue is the regulated return on the Group's RCV. The Group's Allowed Revenue is notified to Thames
Water, which bills and collects this revenue from its wastewater customers and passes this through to the
Group. Through the construction period, revenue is deferred as the services associated with this revenue
will not be delivered until System Acceptance. Revenue is accrued in the period it has been earned, if it
has not been invoiced by the Group to Thames Water. Revenues that have been invoiced and collected
from Thames Water are treated as an advance payment liability.

ln determining the accrued revenue earned in the period, the directors consider the value of revenues
that will not be recovered through bad debt risk and subsequently the accrued revenue in the Statement
of Financial Position is adjusted to reflect this.

Invoiced revenues reflect the actual cash collected by Thames Water from its customers and as such the
bad debt risk is considered to be very low.

Employee benefits

Defined contribution pension plans 

A defined pension contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the Group pays fixed
contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts.
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised in the period during
which services are rendered by employees.

Other employee benefits 

Other short and long-term employee benefits are measured on an undiscounted basis and are recognised
over the period in which they accrue.

Provisions

A provision is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when the Group has a present legal or
contractual obligation as a result of a past event that can be reliably measured and it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Any provisions recognised by the
Group are recorded at management's best estimate of the consideration required to settle the obligation
at the Statement of Financial Position date.

Operating leases

Payments made under operating leases are capitalised in assets under construction on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease provided they meet the capitalisation criteria for assets under construction.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement ("IAS 39") are classified as either derivative or non-derivative financial instruments.
Derivative financial instruments comprise financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss.
Non-derivative financial instruments comprise trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents,
loans and borrowings, and trade and other payables.

The Group determines the classification of financial instruments at initial recognition and re-evaluates this
designation at each financial year end. The initial and subsequent measurement of financial instruments
depends on their classification as follows:

Trade and other receivables 

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition they
are measured at amortised cost.

Trade and other payables 

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition they are
measured at amortised cost.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand balances and deposits with a maturity at
acquisition of three months or less. Cash equivalents are readily convertible to a known amount of cash
and subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

Short-term cash deposits disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position comprise cash deposited with
a maturity of greater than three months on acquisition, a fixed interest rate and which do not constitute
cash equivalents under IAS 7 'Statement of cash flows'.

Borrowings 

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, borrowings are stated at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds received (net
of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the Income Statement over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Derivative financial instruments

The Group has entered into index-linked swaps to manage its exposure to inflation linked rate risk.
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the Statement of Financial Position date. The resulting gain
or loss is recognised immediately in the Income Statement unless the derivative is designated and
effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in the Income Statement
depends on the nature of the hedge relationship. The Group has not designated any derivatives within
hedging relationships and therefore has not applied hedge accounting.

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset whereas a derivative with a
negative fair value is recognised as a financial liability. A derivative is presented as a non-current asset
or non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is more than 12 months and it is not
expected to be realised or settled within 12 months.

ln addition, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety.

Further details of the derivative financial instruments fair values, valuation technique and fair value
hierarchy level are disclosed in note 12.

Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the Income
Statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or in other
comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the Statement of Financial Position date, and any adjustment
to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is measured at the
tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
disclosed net to the extent that they relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority and the Group has
the right of set off.
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Recently issued accounting standards not yet applied by the Group

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Group has not applied the following new or
revised IFRS's that have been issued but are not yet effective for the Group as at 31 March 2018 and in
some cases are subject still to endorsement by the EU.

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

• IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

• IFRS 16 Leases

• IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

• IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

• IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

• IAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures

• IAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property

• IFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions

• IFRS 4 Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

• IFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation

• Clarifications to IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

• Improvements to IFRSs (2014-2016)

• Improvements to IFRSs (2015-2017)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018)

The Group has completed an impact assessment of the adoption of IFRS 9 and has concluded that on
adoption of the new standard, impairment losses against financial assets under the 12-month expected
credit loss (ECL) model and those under the simplified ECL model would be immaterial and therefore the
impact of adoption of the new standard is not likely to be significant.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018)

The Group has assessed the impact of applying the five-step model under IFRS 15 and concluded that it
will have no impact on the current treatment of revenue which is deferred while in the construction phrase
of the project. Based on the completed assessment, the Group does not expect the application of IFRS
15 to have a significant impact on the Group's financial statements when it is adopted.

IFRS 16 Leases (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019)

The Group has completed its initial assessment of the impact of applying the single recognition model for
lessees and concluded that current operating property leases would fall under the scope of IFRS 16 at
the date of transition. This would result in the Group recognising new right-to-use assets and lease
liabilities on the balance sheet which are likely to increase assets and liabilities by approximately £10.3m.

The Group has assessed the three transition alternatives allowed under IFRS 16 and concluded that there
would not be any material transition differences between each method in relation to the Group's potential
IFRS 16 leases. The Group will continue to assess the impact of this standard as it approaches the
adoption date.
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2 Auditors' remuneration

Audit services
Statutory audit - Group and the Company
Statutory audit - subsidiaries

Audit related assurance services
Regulatory audit services provided by the statutory auditor

Other non-audit services
Review of interim financial information
Tax advisory services
Other regulatory assurance services

2018 2017 
£000 £000 

3 2
76 85

9 9

8 8
68

61 42

157 214 

All of these fees have been capitalised in the Company's subsidiary Bazalgette Tunnel Limited.

3 Employee costs
The average number of persons employed by the Group (including directors) during the year was 179
(2017: 151 ).

The aggregate payroll costs of these persons were as follows:

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Contributions to defined contribution pension plan
Capitalised into asset under construction

2018 
£m

18.9
2.4
0.7

(22.0)

2017 
£m
12.9

1.5
0.6

(15.0)

The Group operates a single defined contribution pension plan which is open to all employees of the
Group.

Directors remuneration

The directors of the Company did not receive any payment for their services during the year ended 31
March 2018. Any qualifying services the directors perform in respect of the Company are considered to
be incidental and part of the director's overall management responsibilities within the Company.

The remuneration for the directors to the Group for the current and prior year is included in note 16.
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4 Finance income and costs

Finance income
Interest income

Finance costs
Interest expense on borrowings
Financing fees
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss:

Index linked swaps
Capitalised finance interest and expense into asset under construction

Net finance (income)/costs

5 Taxation

Total current tax

Total Income Statement tax expense

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

Profit/(loss) before tax:
Expected tax charge/(credit) using UK corporation tax rate of 19% (2017: 20%)
Items not taxable 1 

2018 2017 
£m £m

(2.3) (1.0)

61.5 29.3
5.2 4.4

(9.5) 34.2
(64.4) (32.7)

(9.5) 34.2 

2018 
£m

2017 
£m

2018 2017 
£m £m

9.5
(1.8)

1.8

(34.2)
6.8

(6.8)

Total Income Statement tax expense

1 - Items not taxable solely relate to fair value movements on the Group's derivative liabilities which are disregarded for current tax purposes

Unrecognised deferred tax assets

As at the Statement of Financial Position date, unrecognised deferred tax assets of £20.4m (2017:
£12.0m) have been calculated with regards to the Company's tax losses. These deferred tax assets have
not been recognised due to uncertainty around the timing of the recoverability of these losses against
future taxable profits.
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6 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment comprised the following at 31 March 2018:

Cost
At 1 April 2017
Additions

Balance at 31 March 2018

Asset
under

construction Total
£m £m

545.9 545.9 
609.0 609.0 

1,154.9 1,154.9 

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2017
Depreciation charge

Balance at 31 March 2018

Net book value at 31 March 2018 1,154.9 1,154.9

Net book value at 31 March 2017 545.9 545.9 

Asset under construction

During the construction phase of the project which commenced in 2015 and which will be completed at
System Acceptance, all expenditure which is directly attributable to bringing the Thames Tideway Tunnel
asset into its working condition for its intended use will be capitalised. All expenditure, excluding fair value
movements in the Income Statement, is considered to have met this requirement in the year ended 31
March 2018. The amount of net borrowing costs capitalised during the year was £59.2m (2017: £28.3m)
with a capitalisation rate of 100%.

7 Investments in subsidiaries
The Company has held the following investments in subsidiaries in the current year and prior period:

Direct Indirect
Country of Class of ownership ownership

incorporation shares held 2018 2018
Direct subsidiaries
Bazalgette Tunnel Limited UK Ordinary 100%
Bazalgette Finance pic UK Ordinary 100%

Indirect subsidiaries
Thames Tideway Tunnel Limited UK Ordinary 100%

All subsidiaries have the same year end as the Company. All subsidiaries have the same registered
address as the Company which is Cottons Centre, Cottons Lane, London, SE1 2QG.
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8 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables
Accrued Income
Other receivables
Prepayments
Amounts owed by group undertakings (note 16)

Non-current assets
Current assets

Group Group Company Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

£m £m £m £m

1.9 2.2
3.3

18.8 17.8
63.3 64.6

714.4 529.3

87.3 84.6 714.4 529.3

54.5 54.8 714.4 529.3
32.8 29.8

Accrued income of £3.3m (2017: £nil} relates to cumulative revenue earned on the project to date that
has not been invoiced to Thames Water as at the Statement of Financial Position date.

Prepayments include £31 .4m (2017: £34.9m) in relation to the Government Support Package and £11.6m
(2017: £13.1 m) in relation to insurance contracts.

9 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and bank balances
Cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents per cash flow
statement

Group Group Company Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

£m £m £m £m

84.9 84.1
761.5 231.8

846.4 315.9

Cash equivalents comprise short-term deposits and investments in money market funds with an original
maturity of three months or less. The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents approximates their fair
value. Short-term deposits with a maturity of greater than 3 months are shown separately on the
Statement of Financial Position. At the Statement of Financial Position date these totalled £57.5m (2017:
£nil}.

Restricted Cash
The Group holds Debt Service Reserve Accounts to maintain committed liquidity facilities with regards to
the prospective financing cost payments for a period of 12 months from the Statement of Financial
Position date. The restricted cash value in Debt Service Reserve Accounts was £20.4m at 31 March 2018
(2017: £3. 7m).
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1 O Trade and other payables

Trade payables
Accrued expenses
Deferred income
Advance payment liability

Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

Group Group Company Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

£m £m £m £m

1.9 2.0
36.0 16.2
4.7 1.8

53.5 26.7

96.1 46.7

57.0 26.7
39.1 20.0

The advance payment liability represents deferred revenue that has been invoiced to and settled by
Thames Water. This revenue is deferred until System Acceptance as the services associated with the
revenue will not be delivered until this time. The deferred income of £4. 7m (2017: £1.8m) represents the
cumulative balance on the project to date of revenue accrued and revenue invoiced to Thames Water,
less the revenue that has been settled by Thames Water at the Statement of Financial Position date.

11 Borrowings
The Group raises finance under a multi-currency financing platform in both a loan and bond format.

Some of the finance raised by the Group is in a deferred format which means that the proceeds from the
borrowing are not received until a future settlement date so as to align when funds are raised with the
construction expenditure profile of the project.

Where bonds are issued with deferred draw dates, the proceeds from these bonds are only received from
the bond purchaser on the future settlement dates.
This note provides information about the Group's borrowings, which are measured at amortised cost.

2018 2017
£m £m

£250m 2.375% fixed-rate bond 2027
£75m 0.828% index-linked bond 2047 ª· b

£200m 0.740% index-linked bond 2042 ª· e
£300m 2.860% fixed-rate loan 2032
Shareholder loan notes 8.000 % fixed rate 2064 d 

247.2
76.1

201.1
301.5
714.4 529.3

Total borrowings 1,540.3 529.3

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities 1,540.3 529.3

a) The value of the capital and interest elements of these index-linked bonds are linked to movements in the Consumer Price Index (CPI)

b) This debt amortises from 2038

c) This debt amortises from 2033 and contains a collar mechanism that limits total accretion repayment within a predetermined range

d) Borrowing from the Company's immediate parent Bazalgette Ventures Limited
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Deferred loans

The Company raised £1 00m of loans during the year with a deferred draw date (2017: £700m).

Deferred purchase bonds

The Group placed £125m of deferred purchase bonds during the year ended 31 March 2018 (2017:
£450m). ln total, the Group has issued £575m of deferred bonds to a range of investors. The bond
proceeds will be received over the next four years and the bonds have maturities from 2040 to 2054.

Company

ln addition to the shareholder loan, the Company has a £0.1 m (2017: £0.1 m) borrowing from its direct
subsidiary Bazalgette Tunnel Limited. The borrowing carries a floating interest rate of Libar+ 85bps and
a maturity of 2020.

12 Financial instruments

The carrying values of the financial assets and liabilities of the Group and Company are as follows:

Financial Assets
Group
2018

£m

Group
2017

£m

Company
2018

£m

Company
2017

£m
Other financial assets: 
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term deposits

24.0
846.4

57.5

20.0
315.9

714.4 529.3

Total 927.9 335.9 714.4 529.3

Trade and other receivables above exclude prepayments.

Financial Liabilities
Group Group Company Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

£m £m £m £m
Liabilities at fair value through profit and loss: 
Derivative financial instruments 24.7 34.2

Other financial liabilities: 
Trade and other payables 96.1 46.7
Borrowings 1,540.3 529.3 714.4 529.4

Total 1,661.1 610.2 714.4 529.4
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12 Financial Instruments (continued}

Fair value measurements

The Fair value of financial instruments represents the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability between informed and willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale at the
measurement date.

The fair values of financial instruments and a comparison to their carrying value is shown in the table
below. The Group has not disclosed the fair values for cash and cash equivalents, short-term deposits,
trade receivables and trade payables as their carrying amounts are a reasonable approximation of the
fair value.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Non-current
Borrowings - fixed-rate sterling loans
Borrowings - fixed-rate sterling bonds
Borrowings - index-linked sterling bonds

31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2018 2018 2017 2017
Book Fair Book Fair
value value value value

£m £m £m £m

1,015.9 1,065.4 529.3 565.5
247.2 246.1
277.2 294.5

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and
loss
Non-current
Derivatives - index-linked swaps 24.7 24.7 34.2 34.2

Total 1,565.0 1,630.7 563.5 599.7

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Borrowings include index-linked and fixed-rate bonds, fixed-rate loans and intra-group loans. The fair
value of borrowings is determined using observable quoted market prices where this is available or by
discounting the expected future cashflows using appropriate available market data and a credit risk
adjustment representative of the Group.

Financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss

The Group's index-linked swaps are measured at fair value through profit and loss. Where an active
market exists, swaps are recorded at fair value using quoted market prices. Otherwise, they are valued
using a net present value model. As there is no quoted market price, the fair value of each swap is
calculated as the net present value of the expected future cash flow associated with each leg of the swap,
discounted to the reporting date using market rates and adjusted for the credit risk of the Group. Estimates
of future cash flows are based on well-defined and traded market references.

The valuation techniques for determining the fair values of financial instruments are classified under the
hierarchy defined in IFRS 13 which categorises inputs to valuation techniques into Levels 1-3 based on
the degree to which the fair value is observable.

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included for Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices)

66



Bazalgette Holdings Limited
Annual report and financial statements 2018

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
12 Financial Instruments (continued)

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs)

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or liability are categorised across different levels
of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level
of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement.

The Group considers all its derivative financial instruments to fall within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy
as the calculation of the estimated fair value is based on assumptions which include an unobservable
input with regards to the Group's credit risk. The table below sets out the valuation basis of financial
instruments held at fair value at 31 March 2018.

2018
Level3

£m

2017
Level3

£m
Financial instruments at fair value
Derivative financial liabilities:
- Index-linked swaps 24.7 34.2

24.7 34.2

The carrying value of the derivative financial instruments is equal to the fair value.

The following table shows a reconciliation from the opening balance to the closing balance for level 3 fair
values.

Balance 1 April 2017
(Profit)/loss recognised in finance costs
- Net change in fair value (unrealised}

Derivative
financial

instruments at
fair value

through profit
or loss

£m
34.2

(9.5)

Balance at 31 March 2018 24.7

The fair value estimate of the credit risk of the Group is calculated using several data points, including
analysis of market data for similar corporate entities, which is publicly available and based on a large
portfolio of liquid, tradeable instruments, as well as an assessment of the credit spread on the Group's
recent bond issuances. Having considered all available information, the directors believe that the risk
adjustment applied in the fair value estimate reflects the Group's current credit risk.

Level 3 fair values sensitivity

For the fair value of the index linked swaps, reasonably possible changes to the unobservable input,
holding other inputs constant, would have the following effects.

31 March 2018
Impact on profit for the year

Increase (Decrease)

Risk-adjusted discount rate(+/- 100bps movement) 11.0 ( 13.6) 
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The Group's principal objectives in managing capital are:

• To finance the Company while minimising the weighted average cost of capital. The Company will
maintain at all times a robust investment grade credit rating;

• Financing will be a mix of some or all of commercial bank debt, bonds (public and private), Eiß loans,
lease financing and other instruments. Financing could be raised on a real/or nominal basis;

• The Company's weighted average cost of capital will be minimised by reducing risk, including interest
rate, inflation, credit spread, maturity risk, liquidity and currency risk;

• Hedging and pre-financing may be used to reduce risk. The Company will not engage in speculative
treasury activity; and

• The Company will manage its financing activities in compliance with the constraints imposed by the
Government Support Package, financing documents and the Company's Licence.

The Group seeks to maintain a low risk financing position by preserving the investment grade Baa1
(Moody's)/BBB+ (Fitch) credit ratings. These credit ratings were unchanged in the year. The Group
monitors gearing targets on a regular basis, taking into consideration risk, financing, legal and regulatory
constraints and optimal level of execution within the capital structure.

During the year the Group has secured a further £400m of loans in addition to the £700m European
Investment Bank loan it secured in the prior year and the Group also issued a further £650m of bonds via
multiple counterparties, taking the total bond issuance to £1.1 bn. The bond issuance includes deferred
purchase bonds where bond proceeds will be received over the next 4 years.

The Group maintains access to a £750m revolving credit facility (RCF), following the cancellation of
£250m in March 2018. This RCF facility remained undrawn at the Statement of Financial position date
(2017: £nil draw down).

Management of financial risk
The Treasury team, which reports directly to the CFO, substantially manages the Group's financing,
including debt, cash management and interest costs for the Company on a day to day basis. The Treasury
Committee, which is chaired by a non-executive director reviews and reports to the Board on the
Company's treasury policy, treasury strategies and financial strategy. The Group also has an executive
level Funding and Financing Committee, chaired by the CFO, which considers treasury and regulatory
matters in detail on a monthly basis.

The Group's management of specific financial risks is dealt with as follows:

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to fund on a timely basis its capital expenditure
programme or service its debt. At 31 March 2018, the Group had total liquidity in excess of £3bn,
comprising £904m of cash and short-term deposits, the £750m undrawn RCF, the £700m undrawn Eiß
loan, £575m of deferred purchase bonds and £100m of other undrawn loans. This, combined with
expected revenue collections, provides liquidity significantly in excess of our 18-month target, including
all debt requirements to System Acceptance.

For deferred purchase bonds issued by the Group's subsidiary, Bazalgette Finance pic, the Group will
receive these proceeds at a future settlement date. The Group is therefore exposed to the counterparties
to these deferred bonds on whom it relies to provide funds on the pre-agreed dates. Bazalgette Finance
pic evaluates counterparty risk prior to entering into such transactions and manages concentration risk in
respect of deferred funding commitments. As part of its risk management, Bazalgette Finance pic has
agreed information requirements and covenants with the Deferred Bond Purchasers, and monitors on an
ongoing basis the Deferred Bond Purchasers' ability to honour their obligations, allowing it to assess any
potential liquidity exposure in advance of settlement dates, and to make alternative funding arrangements
if necessary.
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The Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, through the Government Support
Package, has committed to provide certain contingent financial support during the construction period.
Such support is available in exceptional circumstances and includes the Market Disruption Facility
providing the Group with a debt facility of up to £500m, for use where it is unable to issue debt in the debt
capital markets as a result of market disruption.
The tables below analyse the Groups's interest-bearing borrowings and net-settled derivative financial
instruments into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the Statement of Financial
Position date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows including
interest payable.

2018 2017
£m £m

Borrowings
Within one year (73.6) (42.3)
Between one and two years (73.7) (42.3)
Between two and five years (221.4) (127.0)
After more than 5 years (4,182.1) (2,307.7)

(4,550.8) (2,519.3)

2018 2017
£m £m

Derivative financial instruments
Within one year 3.4
Between one and two years 7.8 1.1
Between two and five years 51.0 34.7
After more than 5 years (98.1) (67.9)

(35.9) (32.1)

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet
its contractual obligations.
Credit risk for the Group principally arises from trading (the supply of services) and treasury activities {the
depositing of cash). The Group's exposure to trading risk is predominantly with Thames Water which is
the Group's only significant trading counterparty and who constitute the full outstanding balance of trade
receivables at the Statement of Financial Position date. As part of its licenced activities, the Group
generates an annual revenue return on its RCV, which, it subsequently invoices to Thames Water
periodically through the financial year. At any time, the outstanding trade receivable balance is
approximately one month's revenue collection and represents amounts already collected by Thames
Water from its customers so the risk of default is considered low.
Placements of cash on deposit expose the Group to credit risk against the counterparties concerned. A
treasury policy on Investment Strategy Management provides clear instrument limits for money market
funds, liquidity funds and money market deposits. The policy sets counterparty concentration and tenor
limits through minimum credit rating requirements (as measured by reputable credit agencies).
At the Statement of Financial Position date there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amount of financial assets and therefore the
maximum exposure at 31 March 2018 was £927.9m (2017: £335.9m). Analysis of this amount can be
found in the financial assets section of this note.
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Market risk - Interest rate risk
The Group's finance strategy defines long term objectives for the management of interest rate risk, in
addition to compliance with the hedging policies contained in the Government Support Package, financing
documentation and the Licence. These include, amongst other things, restrictions on over hedging and
requirements as to the amount of the Group's debt which bears a fixed, floating or an index-linked rate of
interest.
The Group's deferred revenue and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates. All drawn debt at 31 March 2018 is either borrowed or hedged via swaps, at fixed
or index-linked rates. A sensitivity analysis has not been disclosed as the impact from interest rate
movements is considered immaterial.

Market risk - Inflation rate risk
The finance costs of the Group's index-linked debt instruments and derivatives varies with changes in
RPI and CPI rather than interest rates. These financial instruments form an economic hedge with the
Group's revenues and RCV, which are also linked to RPI inflation. The financing strategy has involved
issuing RPI and CPI linked debt to ensure that reductions in revenue due to low inflation will be partially
offset by reductions in interest costs.
ln the year, the Group issued long dated CPI bonds recognising Ofwat's proposals to transition from RPI
to CPIH as the underlying measure of inflation for price control periods. There is a risk that CPI could
diverge from RPI in a way that the correlation between RCV and nominal debt weakens.
Inflation risk is monitored and reported monthly to the Funding and Financing Committee and
subsequently to the Treasury Committee.
The table below summarises the sensitivity at 31 March 2018 of the Group's profit and equity to changes
in RPI for the Group's index-linked derivatives only. Due to the adopted accounting policy of capitalising
borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the construction of the TTT, the sensitivity analysis
excludes the Group's index-linked borrowings . This analysis also excludes any RPI impact on the Group's
revenues and RCV. The fair value of the Group's index-linked derivatives is based on estimated future
cash flows, discounted back to the reporting date and these fair values will be impacted by an increase
or decrease in RPI as shown in the table below. This analysis assumes all other variables remain constant.

2018 2018 2017 2017 
£m £m £m £m

(Loss)/profit
Equity

13 Capital and reserves
Called-up share capital

+1%
(69.1)
(69.1)

-1%
62.9
62.9

+1%
(57.2)
(57.2)

-1%
55.3
55.3

Allotted, called-up and fully paid ordinary shares of £1 each

At the beginning of the year/period
Issued for cash

At the end of the year/period

Ordinary Ordinary
shares shares

2018 2017 
No. No.

370,407,648 138,258,754
139,264,953 232,148,894

509,672,601 370,407,648 

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive distributions as declared from time to time and are
entitled to vote at meetings of the Company in line with the details of the Shareholders agreement. Further
information on the role of the shareholders is outlined in the Holding Company Principles statement which
is available at www.tideway.london
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Retained earnings

2018 2017
£m £m 

At the beginning of the year (34.2)
ProfiU(loss) for the year 9.5 (34.2)

At the end of the year (24.7) (34.2)
= = 

14 Operating leases
The Group has entered into non-cancellable operating leases in respect of office buildings. The future
minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

2018 2017

Less than one year
Between one and five years
More than five years

£m 
2.1
7.9
1.4

£m 
6.7
2.0

11.4 8.7

15 Contingent liabilities
There are a number of uncertainties surrounding the Group including potential claims, which may affect
the financial performance of the Group. Where claims are possible but not probable, or unquantifiable,
such claims are treated as contingent liabilities. Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position but are monitored to ensure that should a possible obligation
become probable and a transfer of economic benefits to settle an obligation can be reliably measured,
then a provision for the obligation is made. There were no material contingent liabilities at the Statement
of Financial Position date.

16 Related parties
Group

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated
on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.

Amounts outstanding on borrowings from the immediate parent company, Bazalgette Ventures Limited,
are disclosed in note 11 .

Key management personnel

Key management personnel comprise the directors of the Group. The aggregate compensation of key
management personnel to the Group was as follows:

Short-term benefits

2018
£m 

2.2

2017
£m 

2.2

2.2 2.2

Further information can be found in the Remuneration report of Bazalgette Tunnel Limited's Annual Report
which is available at www.tideway.london.
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16 Related parties (continued)

Company

Amounts outstanding on borrowings from Bazalgette Tunnel Limited and Bazalgette Ventures Limited,
are disclosed in note 11.

Amounts outstanding on loans to Bazalgette Tunnel Limited total £714.4m (2017: £529.3m). The loan
carries the same terms as the shareholder loans disclosed in note 11.

Key management personnel

The directors of the Company are considered to be the key management personnel. They did not receive
any payment for their services during the year ended 31 March 2018 (2017: £nil).

17 Ultimate parent company and parent company of larger group
The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Bazalgette Ventures Limited. The Company's ultimate
controlling parent is Bazalgette Equity Limited which is also the largest group in which the Company is
consol idated.

Copies of the consolidated accounts for the Bazalgette Equity Group are available from the Company
Secretary at Bazalgette Equity Limited, Cottons Centre, Cottons Lane, London, SE1 2QG.

18 Subsequent events occurring after the reporting date
The Group's indirect subsidiary Thames Tideway Tunnel Limited has been voluntarily dissolved in April
2018. Its last trading date was 31 March 2017.

On 1 O April 2018, the Group's subsidiary, Bazalgette Finance pic, issued a £150m Green index-linked
bond. Linked to RPI the bond matures in 2032 and has a deferred purchase date of 2022.

On 14 May 2018, Bazalgette Finance pic issued three further deferred purchase bonds; a £75m Green
CPI-linked bond with a maturity of 2052 and a deferred purchase date of 2022 and two £50m Green RPI­
linked bonds with maturities of 2049 and deferred purchase dates of 2022 and 2023 respectively.
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